
 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of  

East Sussex County Council 

on Tuesday, 1 December 2020 

at 10.00 am 

 
 
 
 
NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this 
meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived. The live broadcast is 
accessible at: www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm 
 

http://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.htm


 



 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
To the Members of the County Council  
 
You are summoned to attend a meeting of the East Sussex County Council to be held at County 
Hall, Lewes, on Tuesday, 1 December 2020 at 10.00 am to transact the following business 
 
Note: County Councillors will be joining the meeting remotely 
 
1   Minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2020  (Pages 5 - 32) 

 
2   Apologies for absence   

 
3   Chairman's business   

 
4   Questions from members of the public   

 
5   Report of the Cabinet  (Pages 33 - 50) 

 
6   Report of the Place Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 51 - 52) 

 
7   Report of the Governance Committee  (Pages 53 - 56) 

 
8   Report of the Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health  (Pages 57 - 60) 

 
9   Questions from County Councillors   

 
(a) Oral questions to Cabinet Members 
(b) Written Questions of which notice has been given pursuant to Standing Order 

44 
 

10   Report of the East Sussex Fire Authority  (Pages 61 - 68) 
 

11   Urgent Decisions  (Pages 69 - 70) 
 

 

Note: There will be a period for collective prayers and quiet reflection 9.30 am to 9.45 am. 
The prayers will be led by the  Reverend Peter Clark, Chaplain to the East Sussex Fire 
and Rescue Service. The Chairman would be delighted to be joined by any members of 
staff and Councillors who wish to attend this session which will take place via Teams. 
 
County Hall  
St Anne's Crescent  
LEWES                                                                                          
East Sussex BN7 1UE  
 
PHILIP BAKER 
Assistant Chief Executive 23 November 2020 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

MINUTES 

 

EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the EAST SUSSEX COUNTY COUNCIL  held at Council 
Chamber, County Hall, Lewes on 13 OCTOBER 2020 at 10.00 am 
 
 

Present    Councillors John Barnes MBE, Matthew Beaver, 
Colin Belsey, Nick Bennett, Bill Bentley, Bob Bowdler, 
Tania Charman, Charles Clark, Martin Clarke, 
Godfrey Daniel, Philip Daniel, Angharad Davies, 
Chris Dowling, Claire Dowling, Simon Elford, David Elkin 
(Chairman), Nigel Enever, Michael Ensor, Kathryn Field, 
Gerard Fox, Roy Galley, Keith Glazier, Darren Grover, 
Carolyn Lambert, Tom Liddiard, Laurie Loe, Carl Maynard, 
Ruth O'Keeffe MBE, Sarah Osborne, Peter Pragnell, 
Pat Rodohan, Phil Scott, Jim Sheppard (Vice Chairman), 
Daniel Shing, Stephen Shing, Alan Shuttleworth, 
Rupert Simmons, Andy Smith, Bob Standley, 
Richard Stogdon, Colin Swansborough, Barry Taylor, 
Sylvia Tidy, David Tutt, John Ungar, Steve Wallis, 
Trevor Webb and Francis Whetstone 
 

20 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2020  
 
20.1 RESOLVED to confirm as a correct record the minutes of the County Council meeting 
held on 7 July 2020. 
 
21 Apologies for absence  
 
21.1 An apology for absence was received on behalf of Councillor Deirdre Earl-Williams. 
 
22 Chairman's business  
 
AUBREY VICKERS 
 
22.1 The Chairman and other members paid tribute to Aubrey Vickers following his death in 
August. Aubrey had represented the Eastbourne Meads Division from 1974 to 2001. On behalf 
of the Council, the Chairman offered condolences to Aubrey’s family and friends. 
 
22.2 The Council remained silent as a mark of respect for their former colleague Aubrey 
Vickers. 
 
QUEEN’S BIRTHDAY HONOURS 
 
22.3 On behalf of the Council, the Chairman congratulated all those who lived or worked in 
East Sussex who were recognised in the Queen’s Birthday Honours including Julie King from 
the East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service who had been awarded the Queen’s Fire Service 
Medal  
 
23 Questions from members of the public  
 
23.1 Copies of the questions received from members of the public and the answers from 
Councillor Fox (Chair of the Pension Committee), Councillor Bennett (Lead Member for 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



MINUTES 

 

 

Resources) and Councillor Claire Dowling (Lead Member for Transport and Environment) are 
attached to these minutes. 
 
24 Declarations of Interest  
 

24.1 The following members declared personal interests in items on the agenda as follows: 

  

Member Position giving rise 
to interest 

Agenda item 

  

Whether 
interest 
was 
prejudicial 

  
 
Councillor 
O’Keeffe 
 

  
 
Member of the 
Unison  

  
 
Item 7 

  

No 

Councillor 
Ungar 

Member of Unison  
Retired Members’ 
Group 
 

Item 7 No 

 
25 Reports  
 
25.1 The Chairman of the County Council having called over the reports set out in the 
agenda, reserved the following for discussion: 
 
Cabinet report – paragraph 1 (Council monitoring quarter 1) and paragraph 2 (Reconciling 
Policy, Performance and Resources)  
Governance Committee report – paragraph 1 (Notice of Motion – virtual meetings) 
Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health – paragraph 1 (Notice of Motion – Unison 
Ethical Care Charter) 
 
NON-RESERVED PARAGRAPHS 
 
25.2 On the motion of the Chairman of the County Council, the Council ADOPTED those 
paragraphs in the reports that had not been reserved for discussion as follows: 
 
Governance Committee report – paragraph 2 (Coronavirus Temporary Arrangements) 
 
26 Report of the Cabinet  
 
Paragraph 1 (Council monitoring quarter 1) and Paragraph 2 (Reconciling Policy, Performance 
and Resources) 
 
26.1 Councillor Glazier moved the reserved paragraphs of the Cabinet’s report. 
 
26.2 The motions were CARRIED after debate. 
 
27 Report of the Governance Committee  
 
Paragraph 1 (Notice of motion – virtual meetings) 
 
27.1 Councillor Glazier introduced the paragraph. 
 

Page 6



MINUTES 

 

 

27.2 The Chairman stated that as the recommendation of the Governance Committee was to 
reject the motion rather than proposing an amendment the Council would vote on the motion as 
set out in paragraph 1 of the report as follows: 
 
Since lockdown remote working has been shown to be a very effective way for the Council to 
conduct its business. Without specific permission from the Government to continue in this way 
we shall have to revert to face to face meetings after the next County Council elections.  
 
This Council resolves to ask Central Government to change the rules to enable Local 
Authorities to make their own decisions as to whether to hold virtual and/or physical meetings 
from May 2021. 
 
27.3 The motion was CARRIED after debate: 
 
 
28 Report of the Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health  
 
Paragraph 1 (Notice of Motion – Unison Ethical Care Charter) 
 
28.1 Councillor Maynard moved the reserved paragraph of the Lead Member’s report. 
 
28.2 The Chairman stated that as the recommendation of the Lead Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health was to reject the motion rather than proposing an amendment the Council 
would vote on the original motion as proposed by Councillor Webb and seconded by Councillor 
Scott as follows: 
 
That East Sussex County Council should sign up to the UNISON Ethical Care Charter as soon 
as possible. 
 
28.3 The following motion moved by Councillor Webb and seconded was LOST: 
 
To adjourn the debate of the original motion to a future meeting of the Council. 
 
28.4 The following motion was LOST after debate: 
 
That East Sussex County Council should sign up to the UNISON Ethical Care Charter as soon 
as possible. 
 
29 Questions from County Councillors  
 
29.1 The following members asked questions of the Lead Cabinet Members indicated and 
they responded: 
 

Questioner Respondent Subject 
 

Councillor Tutt Councillor Glazier The County Council’s response to the 
Planning White Paper     
 

Councillor Field  Councillor Standley Education provision during future spikes 
of Covid-19 

Councillor Scott Councillor Maynard  Cancellation of non-urgent blood tests   
 

Councillor Stephen 
Shing 

Councillor Glazier Delay in response to enquiries raised by 
councillors 
 

Page 7



MINUTES 

 

 

Questioner Respondent Subject 
 

Councillor Tutt Councillor Claire 
Dowling 

Number of schemes being taken forward 
under the Active Travel Fund 
 

29.2 Two written questions were received from Councillor O’Keeffe for the Chair of the 
Pension Committee. The questions and answers are attached to these minutes. The Chair of 
the Committee responded to a supplementary question on question 2. 
 
 
 
 

THE CHAIRMAN DECLARED THE MEETING CLOSED AT 12.17 pm 
_________________________ 

The reports referred to are included in the minute book 
_________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



MINUTES 

 

 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
Note: Questions 1 to 39 relate to the East Sussex Pension Fund exposure to fossil fuel 
investments, the response to climate emergency and related issues. The answer to 
these questions is set out after question 39 below 
 

1. The same or similar questions were asked by: 
 
Jane Wilde, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Alison Henshall, Hastings, East Sussex 
Shona Maters, Crowborough, East Sussex 
Alison Cooper, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Daniel Hope, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Tessa George, Lewes, East Sussex 
Kate Christie, Forest Row, East Sussex 
Katherine Beaven, Forest Row, East Sussex 
Sally Phillips, Hastings, East Sussex 
Sophie Larsen, Lewes, East Sussex 
Ralph Hobbs, Hastings, East Sussex 
Philippa Hislop, Lewes, East Sussex 
Michael Studd, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Lucy Martin, Forest Row, East Sussex 
Julia Jason, Forest Row, East Sussex 
Esme Needham, Hastings, East Sussex 
Carol Mills, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
David Stopp, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Mark Engineer, Barcombe, East Sussex 
Anthony Hack, Hastings, East Sussex 
Nicole Healing, Hove 
Nic Carter, Hastings, East Sussex 
Michael Bernard, Bexhill on Sea, East Sussex 
Ian Sheard, Battle, East Sussex 
Charmain Love, Brighton 
Iveta Bannister, Ripe East Sussex 
Veryan Young, Brighton 
Lynda Russell, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Frances Witt, Lewes, East Sussex 
Neal Young, Brighton 
Michael Cope, Bexhill on Sea, East Sussex 
Susan Churchill, Hastings, East Sussex 
Matthew Chell, Peacehaven, East Sussex 
Fiona MacGregor, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Marion Clarke, Brighton 
Jane Wigan, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Robert White, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Felicity Goodson, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Barbara Echlin, Bexhill on Sea, East Sussex 
Andrea Needham, Hastings, East Sussex 
Ting Plaskett, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Caroline Donegan, Ticehurst, East Sussex 
Nicola Gardner, Brighton 
Mary-Jane Wilkins, Lewes, East Sussex 

Page 9



MINUTES 

 

 

Roz Price, Brighton 
Adrian Briggs, Lewes, East Sussex 
Carol Turner, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Brendan Clegg, Crowborough, East Sussex 
Anne Duke, Ringmer, East Sussex 
David Duke, Ringmer, East Sussex 
Darren Dowd, Lewes, East Sussex 
Tim Rabjohns, Rodmell, East Sussex 
Polly Charlton, Brighton 
Anna Hope, Forest Row, East Sussex 
Melissa McClements, Brighton 
Tom Wright, Brighton 
John Dugdale, Hastings, East Sussex 
Leonie Guest, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Gaby Weiner, Lewes, East Sussex 
Susan Murray, Lewes, East Sussex 
Sue Fasquelle, Lewes, East Sussex 
Fiona Le Garsmeur, Brighton 
Joan Coffey, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Janee Swan, Ditchling, East Sussex 
Richard Moore, Lewes, East Sussex 
Kate Edmonds, Alfriston, East Sussex 
Esme Waldron, Bevendean 
Cornelie Usbourne, Maynards Green, East Sussex 
Angela Lynn, Brighton 
Jane Munro, Winchelsea Beach, East Sussex 
Adam Rose, Eastbourne, East Sussex 
Ruth Bryant, Lewes, East Sussex 
Ursula Pethick, Robertsbridge, East Sussex 
Hugh Dunkerley, Brighton 
Julia Waterlow, Lewes, East Sussex 
Duncan Armstrong, Lewes, East Sussex 
Sarah Macbeth, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Melanie Jarman, Lewes, East Sussex 
Ann Macbeth, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Denis Macbeth, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Ann Holmes, Lewes, East Sussex 
Clair Duc, Lewes, East Sussex 
Serena Penman, Lewes, East Sussex 
John Enefer, Hastings, East Sussex 
Gabriel Carlyle, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Anne Rouse, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Erica Smith, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Margaret Fletcher, Seaford East Sussex 
Sheila O’Sullivan, Lewes, Est Sussex 
Richard Pike, Forest Row, East Sussex 
Benjamin Diss, Brighton 
Judith Knott, Lewes, East Sussex 

 
On 13 October 2019 East Sussex County Council (ESCC) declared a ‘climate 
emergency’.  But it continues to act as though it has all the time in the world to address 
this crisis. 

Page 10



MINUTES 

 

 

 
It doesn’t. 
 
From cyclones in Mozambique to fires in California we are already witnessing the 
deadly impact of 1°C of global warming. Failure to limit this warming to 1.5°C will lead to 
even more calamitous impacts, especially for the world’s poorest people. Indeed, the 
UN Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change projects that going from 1.5°C to 2°C 
could mean several hundred million more people being exposed to both climate-related 
risks and poverty. 
 
But limiting global warming to 1.5°C will require dramatic cuts in carbon emissions over 
the next ten years. 
 
Time is running out. 
 
Since declaring a ‘climate emergency’ ESCC has continued to reject calls to divest the 
East Sussex Pension Fund from fossil fuels (oil, coal and gas), preferring instead to 
continue with a seemingly-endless policy of ‘engaging’ fossil fuel companies. 
 
Does the East Sussex Pension Committee accept that, because burning fossil fuels is 
the key driver of global warming, the goals of the Paris Climate Agreement (to keep 
global warming to ‘well below 2 °C’, pursuing 1.5°C) cannot be achieved without the 
rapid alignment of the big fossil fuel companies with a 1.5°C pathway*? 
 
Can the chair of the East Sussex Pension Committee give a single example of an oil or 
gas major that is currently aligned with a 1.5°C pathway*? 
 
And – given the rapidly shrinking window for action - when will the Fund divest from 
those oil and gas companies that fail to align themselves with a 1.5°C pathway*? 

* By a 1.5°C pathway we mean one that: (a) yields a 50% or better chance of keeping 
global warming below 1.5°C; and (b) does so without assuming the future creation of 
global scale ‘negative emissions technologies’ (ie. ones that remove carbon dioxide 
from the atmosphere) that don't currently exist. 
 
2.  Question from Jessica Denison, Newhaven, East Sussex 
 
Does the ESCC accept that burning fossil fuels is a key driver of global warming? 
 
Does ESCC accept that the big fossil fuel companies are not demonstrating active 
commitment to cut carbon emissions and keep global warming below 2°C (ideally not 
more than 1.5°C) as per the Paris Climate Agreement? 
 
I believe that ESCC and the individual councillors have a responsibility to take 
courageous action - to demand positive and responsible behaviour and 
demonstratable commitment from its partners and suppliers. How does the ‘climate 
emergency’ declaration show up in action?   
 
Will ESCC commit to stopping the investment of the East Sussex Pension Fund monies 
in fossil fuel companies that are  fail to align themselves with a 1.5°C pathway? When 
and how can the Fund divest from those oil and gas companies?  
 

Page 11



MINUTES 

 

 

* By a 1.5°C pathway we mean one that: (a) yields a 50% or better chance of keeping 
global warming below 1.5°C; and (b) does so without assuming the future creation of 
global scale ‘negative emissions technologies’ (ie. ones that remove carbon dioxide 
from the atmosphere) that don't currently exist. 
 

3.  Question from Poppy Manley, Brighton   
 
Why in the name of planet Earth is the council investing in fossil fuel companies? The 
council has declared a climate emergency and yet is still investing in companies that are 
causing the climate emergency. This is not on. I do not want my pension money funding 
the destruction of my future. When are you going to divest? 
 
4.  Question from John Clutterbuck, Forest Row, East Sussex  
 
What are the alternatives for the companies involved in fossil-fuels extractions in 
Sussex, without simply having to close and what measures could be proposed to 
compensate these companies if we are to persist with the recommended reductions in 
CO2 emissions and stay on target? 

5.  Question from Chryso Chellum, Lewes, East Sussex  
 
What steps are you taking to divest from the fossil fuel companies that are driving the 
climate crisis in light of the climate emergency that the ESCC has declared? (Please 
clarify the timeline you are working to in accordance with the IPCC - 2018 forecast)  
 
6.    The same or similar questions were asked by: 
  
Charles Secrett, Brighton  
Tony Collins, Brighton 
 
When will the Council divest from investing in all fossil fuel companies, and phase out 
their products from use by switching to low-zero carbon alternative products, in 
response to the worsening climate crisis and to help enact your own ‘Climate 
Emergency' Declaration, made on 13th October 2019? 
 

7.  Question from John Hopkinson, Eastbourne, East Sussex   
 
What will the Council do to ensure that companies and corporations – who are 
concerned not with ecological disaster but with acquiring profits by whatever means – 
take seriously their responsibilities to humanity and the planet by responding to the 
Council’s declared climate emergency?   

8.  Question from Amanda Jobson, Hastings, East Sussex   
 
Why are you still investing in dirty fossil fuels in East Sussex when we are in a climate 
emergency?  
 
You have a responsibility to your residents and community to divest in fossil fuels and 
start investing in cleaner renewable energy therefore if you are a responsible council 
you must consider our future especially for the next generation of young people.  
 

Page 12



MINUTES 

 

 

9.  Question from Tony Harris, Brighton   
 
If your investments could be shown to be directly promoting the spread of Covid 19 
would you continue with them? In fact, investing in fossil fuel companies directly 
contributes to the climate crisis which scientists say will kill billions if not addressed 
immediately. How can you justify continuing to invest in this way despite this 
knowledge? 
 

10.  Question from Gary French, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex    
 
Reported yesterday that even a 2 degree celsius pre industrial revolution rise in 
temperatures will lead to catastrophic sea level rises of at least 2.5 metres by end of 
century. We live in a coastal town, how would you explain your decision not to divest 
from fossil fuels now to the towns schoolchildren (including my 6 and 8 year olds) who 
will live through this disaster? Is it really worth a tiny bit more % profit than investing in 
something else 

 
11.  Question from Sonya Baksi, Lewes, East Sussex   
 
I am a fellow of the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. With the health of 
children in mind our college has chosen to divest from fossil fuel companies. Would 
East Sussex County Council follow suit and divest the Pension Fund from such? 
 
12.  Question from Claire Bessel, Brighton  
 
I request that you dedicate a working group that has the sole purpose of putting forward 
only proposals that are fully in line with averting the climate emergency which the 
council has declared and which pave the way for East Sussex to align ourselves with 
the goals of the Paris Climate Agreement. I believe you already have the details of what 
that means so i will not outline them here.  
 
13.  Question from Kathleen Kane, Lewes, East Sussex   
 
Thank you for declaring a climate emergency.  
I applaud this statement. Please don’t let this be a bit of ‘green washing’ please follow 
up with the urgent action the situation requires. 
Please share with us the actions you are taking....with all the difficulties we are 
experiencing this year it would give us some hope if we could see positive action  
Please could you let me know what you are doing to: 
-withdraw any investments which support the fossil fuel industry. 
- invest in renewables, support biodiversity and quality environments for humans and 
nature. (Please do something about pollution ....air and noise.) 
- provide a less toxic education system which supports resilience and creativity over 
stressful sausage factory exam success/ failure. 
 
14.  Question from Susan Burton, Battle, East Sussex   
 
Could East Sussex County Council explain how they intend to reduce investment into 
fossil fuel companies and the timescales for doing this?  
 
 

Page 13



MINUTES 

 

 

15.  Peter Aeberhard, Seaford, East Sussex   
 
On 13 October 2019 East Sussex County Council (ESCC) declared a ‘climate 
emergency’ Given it is an emergency, surely it is incumbent on the council to take 
immediate and comprehensive action on behalf of its citizens. Just like any successful 
and powerful business, the fossil fuel industry looks to protect its profits by lobbying and 
promoting the very use of fossil fuels we need drastic action to curb. Therefore, is there 
not an obvious and direct conflict of interest for the council to continue investing funds 
from the East Sussex Pension Fund into these companies? Is attempting to engage 
constructively with this industry not like trying to persuade turkeys to vote for christmas? 
 
16.  Question from Les Gunbie, Brighton    
 
On 13 October 2019 East Sussex County Council (ESCC) declared a ‘climate 
emergency’. But it continues to act as though it has all the time in the world to address 
this crisis. 

Since declaring a ‘climate emergency’ ESCC has continued to reject calls to divest the 
East Sussex Pension Fund from fossil fuels (oil, coal and gas), preferring instead to 
continue with a seemingly-endless policy of ‘engaging’ fossil fuel companies.   

When will the Fund divest from those oil and gas companies that fail to align themselves 
with a 1.5°C pathway? 

 
17.  Question from Tim Beecher, Brighton   
 
The fact we are in a Climate Emergency and witnessing the annual, increasingly severe 
climate disasters around the world, mass extinction crisis and losing a habitable planet 
for humans, do you not think it is time to divest from fossil fuels? After all it is rank 
hypocrisy to declare a Climate Emergency, then not act on it and continue to actively 
support the drivers of catastrophic climate change. Can we not invest in the emerging 
renewables, off-grid heat pump networks, smart grids, and Retrofit building industries, 
the very things we need to transition to and create more new jobs? 
 
There are no fossil fuel companies that are planning for a max 1.5degrees C pathway 
which is required by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. We need 
everyone to do the right thing now, including East Sussex County Council! 
 
18.  Question from Joanne Rigby, Seaford, East Sussex   
 
On 13 October 2019 -ESCC declared a climate emergency- an emergency requires 
immediate action- yet you still continue with pension investments in fossil fuels. 
Preferring instead to continue with endless policy of engaging with fossil fuel companies 
which we know are causing Ecocide.  
Can the Chair of East Sussex Pension Committee give a single reason why this has not 
been given ‘immediate’ attention and action?  

 

19.  The same or similar questions were asked by: 
 
Denzil Jones, Lewes, East Sussex  
Dirk Campbell, Lewes, East Sussex 

Page 14



MINUTES 

 

 

Jane Carpenter, Lewes, East Sussex 
   
Given that ESCC declared a climate emergency in October 2019, why does their 
pension fund continue to invest in fossil fuel companies? 

 
20.  Question from Sally Attwood, Lewes, East Sussex  
   
How can the ESCC Council claim to be active in supporting measures to tackle the 
Climate Emergency, which is has acknowledged does exist, when it continues to invest 
in companies, such as those exploiting fossil fuels, that worsen the climate emergency? 
What actual steps is our Council prepared to start taking now? 
 
Other parts of our world are already paying an overhigh price, in terms of floods, 
hurricanes, landslips etc. I saw this all too vividly when I was in Malawi as a volunteer in 
2014/15 when they experienced the worst floods in a generation, after a prolonged 
period of drought.  We only feel this marginally, but it will get worse, if we do not act, 
starting now - not 2030, 40, 50 etc 
 
If ESCC has been using our money, in our pension funds, to put pressure on those 
companies who are not accepting the dangers of a 1.5 degree increase in world 
temperature, it does not appear to have led to results. Will ESCC commit to disinvest 
from such companies from now? 
 
21.  Question from Michael Ryan, St Leonards Warrior Square, East Sussex  
   
In view of the continuing rise in the cost benefit superiority of renewable energy over the 
declining asset of fossil fuels such that even BP has recognised that this is the wave of 
the future, does it not make hard investment sense to defund fossil fuels in favour of the 
former? This will also bring it now in line with the ever -growing government recognition 
of this very urgent necessity?  
 
22.  Question from Arnold Simanowitz, Lewes, East Sussex  
 

In reply to questions about divesting from fossil fuels the Chair of the Pension 
committee repeatedly relies on the need to protect the fund’s investments. Given that 
pension funds far larger than that of ESCC have divested without damaging their 
investments and indeed in most case increasing their value, that BP has recently-
announced write-down of $17.5bn of its oil and gas assets,  that Shell has cut its 
quarterly dividend by 66 per cent, a move that according to commentators leaves millions 
of investors as well as savers in pensions and equity income funds suddenly poorer, that 
peak demand for fossil fuels is rapidly approaching (and according to BP may have 
passed) and that most financial commentators are seriously warning that investments in 
fossil fuels could soon become wasted assets, the Chair can no longer hide behind that 
excuse.  Can he therefore now give the real reason behind the Committee’s refusal to 
divest which appears to be purely ideological? 
 
23.  Question from Dean Robinson, Hastings  
 
What is the East Sussex Pension Committee doing to protect the environment, and our 
citizens from global warming? 

Page 15



MINUTES 

 

 

 

Does the East Sussex Pension Committee accept that, because burning fossil fuels is 
the key driver of global warming, the goals of the Paris Climate Agreement (to keep 
global warming to ‘well below 2 °C’, pursuing 1.5°C) cannot be achieved without the 
rapid alignment of the big fossil fuel companies with a 1.5°C pathway? 
 
24.  Question from Ruth Buckingham, Heathfield, East Sussex 

 
Please divest from using Fossil fuels for your Pensions Fund. We have a Climate 
Change Crisis. It is so damaging to our Planet, our home, the rest of the World, 
devastating other countries and the terrible effects on Wildlife. It is, morally wrong to 
continue using these. Time is running out. We all need to take action now. Do you listen 
and see to David Attenborough's programmes to realise how serious this is. You owe it 
to all future generations. 
 
25.  Question from Anna Newington, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex   
 

Last October East Sussex County Council declared a climate emergency. How come 
ESCC still invests in fossil fuel companies when you acknowledge that we need to cut 
carbon emissions drastically right now?  
 

26.  Question from Dinah Pryor, Seaford, East Sussex   
 

Why is our County Council still contributing to carbon production, having declared a 
‘climate emergency’? And why is ESCC not investing its pension fund in a green 
recovery rather than continuing to invest in fossil fuels? Can they explain why they think 
they have time to engage these old carbon emitting companies when there are so many 
new and unambiguously ‘green’ alternatives and the world is ‘on fire’. 
 

27.  Question from Peter Newell, Kingston, East Sussex   
 

Can the council please spell out the specific conditions in which they would agree to 
divest from fossil fuels? 
 
The evidence is now uncontestable that the vast majority of the world’s remaining fossil 
fuels need to remain in the ground if catastrophic global heating is to be avoided. This 
has been underscored by the IPCC, by the UN Production Gap report and there are 
mounting calls for a fossil fuel non-proliferation treaty.  We also know that business 
responses so far fall well short of what is required, including from work done at Sussex 
University.  
 
The question of whether to divest should have been settled long ago. The only question 
is when? If not now, given the climate emergency, as declared by our own government, 
when will this council make this move? 
 
28. Question from Anthony Gordon, Heathfield, East Sussex 
 
Last October East Sussex County Council declared a ‘climate emergency’ but there is 
as yet no sign of the East Sussex Pension Fund taking steps to divest from fossil fuel 
(oil, coal and gas) industries. 
 

Page 16

http://productiongap.org/2019report/
https://www.fossilfueltreaty.org/
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/wcc.670
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/wcc.670


MINUTES 

 

 

The time to act is NOW not in some fuzzy future. The global temperature is rising 
inexorably as we approach a tipping point where it will become unstoppable. Evidence 
from around the world shows increasingly extreme weather events that are likely to be 
attributable to the ever-rising CO2 levels that result from burning fossil fuels. East 
Sussex is by no means immune from such events, and as they become more frequent 
throughout the planet's hotter latitudes the pressure of migration toward more northern 
latitudes will also continue to increase. 
 
Aside from the ethics of blindly continuing to support climate-destroying industries, the 
funds that are invested there are at risk of becoming stranded assets, which will put at 
risk the future pensions of council staff. 
 
29.  Question from John Webber, Lewes, East Sussex 
 
 I was relieved to see ESCC declare a Climate Emergency last October and had 
assumed that this would lead, amongst other actions, to their fully divesting their 
pensions from fossil fuel industries. However, it appears that their words have yet to be 
followed by actions that are consistent with this uncomfortable truth.  
 
Does the council recognise that fossil fuel companies are still investing trillions of 
pounds in increased search and extraction that would make it impossible for the world 
to achieve the vital goal of limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees, a commitment signed 
by all governments in the 2015 Paris Climate agreement? If so, will they now agree to 
act immediately to withdraw their pension fund from such companies and invest in 
companies whose activities are consistent with this agreement?  
 
30.  Question from Geoff Robinson, Hove 
 
I understand that ESCC have publicly stated they are committed to addressing the 
climate emergency.  I also understand that the pension fund decision makers who 
allocate thousands of workers salary deductions into pension pots have not divested 
from dirty carbon polluting industries. I am aware that there are considerable profits in 
renewable energy companies - a) can you identify which businesses that are low carbon 
or net neutral in short term goals have been invested in and which polluters have been 
divested from? 

 
Are pension decision makers putting our money where the publicly stated aim of 
recognising the climate emergencies mouth is?  Or is this greenwash? 
 

31.  Question from Michael Turner, Hastings, East Sussex 
 
Last October you declared a climate emergency, so why are you still investing in fossil 
fuels for pension funds when all the evidence shows that climate wrecking oil based 
energy sources have absolutely no future.? Will you please divest away from your 
pension funds now, & demonstrate your commitment to deliver change by investing 
them in green energy & public transport? 
 

32.  Question from Mat McDonnell, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
 

Do you think there are less hypocritical and legitimate investments ESCC could be 
making other than in fossil fuels? 
 

Page 17



MINUTES 

 

 

33. Question from Samuel Jenner, Lewes, East Sussex 
 
On 13 October 2019 East Sussex County Council (ESCC) declared a ‘climate emergency’. Since 

that date what plan has the Council put in place for the county to achieve net-zero 
emissions and by what deadlines? Is divesting the East Sussex Pension Fund from 
fossil fuels (oil, coal and gas) part of the plan and if so why not, as continued investment 
in Fossil Fuels over the next ten years would yield much less return than investment in 
renewable energy. If the Pension committee disagree where is the evidence for their 
position?  
 
34. Question from Manuela McLellan, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
 
A Life on our Planet’ - David Attenborough’s latest publication covering the Earth’s 
‘great decline’. 
‘The natural world is fading. The evidence is all around. It has happened during my 
lifetime. I have seen it with my own eyes. It will lead to our destruction’. 
 
Mark Carey has warned Pension Fund managers that fossil fuel investments would 
become ‘worthless’ over time (80% of coal assets will be stranded). 
 
After reading those two statements, how can the Pension Fund invest in fossil fuels on a 
moral and financial basis? 
 

35.  Question from Nicky Bishop, Ashburnham, East Sussex    
 

Since declaring a ‘climate emergency’ last October, ESCC has rejected repeated calls 
to divest the East Sussex Pension Fund from fossil fuels (oil, coal and gas). 
 
a) Does the East Sussex Pension Committee accept and understand that burning fossil 
fuels is the key driver of global warming? 
 
b) Is ESCC aware that time is rapidly running out to achieve a 1.5ºC limit on global 
warming? If not, why not?  If yes, then why is ESCC doing nothing about it? 
   
c) Is ESCC aware of the analysis by Oil Change International which concludes that ‘not 
a single climate plan released by a major oil company comes close to aligning with the 
urgent 1.5ºC global warming limit’.   If not, why not?  If yes, then why is ESCC doing 
nothing about it?   
 
d) Given this conclusion, why is ESCC continuing with its policy of engaging with fossil 
fuel companies, when this engagement has so far been entirely ineffective? And what 
are the grounds for ESCC's belief that such engagement might prove to be effective in 
the very near future? 
 
e) Is ESCC aware that negative emissions technologies which would remove carbon 
dioxide from the atmosphere don't currently exist outside the laboratory, and cannot be 
relied upon to get us out of trouble in the shrinking timeframe available to us?   
 
f) Does ESCC accept that it is at best inconsistent for it to declare a climate emergency 
and at the same time to continue investing in the very same companies that are driving 
this crisis? 
 

Page 18



MINUTES 

 

 

g) Does ESCC accept that acting in the best interests of its pension fund members 
includes safeguarding the future health of the planet for those members and their 
families? And if not, why not? 
 
h) When will the Fund divest from those oil and gas companies that are fuelling global 
warming?   
 
36.  Question from Sylvia Matthews, Eastbourne, East Sussex  
 
It is time (overdue) to cease overriding the nature of planet Earth by changing gases in 
our atmosphere.   
Oil burning must radically reduce towards a stop. The only sustainable source of reliable 
energy is the sun. 
I plead with you to reinvest your pension funds as several enlightened Councils have 
done. 
 
You could consider reinvestment in hydrogen fuel cell technology.  With this the exhaust 
is .  . . water.  Absolutely harmless.   
 
I’ll add that electric cars with batteries can’t succeed for all, because there isn’t enough 
lithium on Earth to make enough batteries, they are very heavy, and what fuel can be 
used to charge the batteries? 
 
37.  Question from Judy Scott, Hastings, East Sussex 
 
Why has the ESCC not removed pension funds from the oil companies that are 
destroying our precious planet? 
  
38.  Question from Hilary Pogge von Strandmann, Ripe, East Sussex 
 
As an ESCC pensioner, I am far more concerned about mitigating against climate 
change (too late now to prevent) than achieving a possible more profitable investment 
via fossil fuels. Why do councillors not support the safety of the people of East Sussex, 
merely continuing to refer accountability and responsibility for the investment profile to 
the pension fund? Surely you are supposed to be acting for the common good? 
 
39.  Question from Lynne Salvage, Hastings, East Sussex 
 
Why has the Chair chosen to align ESCC with other Councils who do not have a 
published Divestment phased action plan in place? 
 
Response by the Chair of the Pension Committee to questions 1 to 39 above 

East Sussex County Council (ESCC) is the administering authority for the East Sussex 
Pension Fund (the Fund), but the Fund is neither owned nor controlled by ESCC. 
Pension fund assets, which are earmarked for pension payments over the life of the 
fund, are ringfenced from ‘Council Money’. There are more than 130 employers (of 
which ESCC is only one) and 78,000 members, whose pension payments will be funded 
by the scheme. The Fund’s investment policy cannot be influenced by outside parties or 
by personal, political or moral beliefs. The Fund must seek to find a balance between its 
statutory and fiduciary obligations, and the views and interests of all of its member 
stakeholders.  The East Sussex Pension Fund’s (ESPF) principal fiduciary responsibility 

Page 19



MINUTES 

 

 

is to provide pensions to the Fund beneficiaries. To this end, it must have attention to 
adequate diversification of risk, limiting of fund volatility & provision of sufficient income 
from its holdings through dividends to pay the pensions.  
  
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG), and sustainability issues are not easily 
resolved matters for a pension fund. They require a thorough rationalisation of the 
investment approach and systematic management of risk, along with acknowledgement 
of the uncertainties that exist. Such decisions are best advanced in a methodical and 
balanced way. Climate and Sustainability are one of a number of significant risks faced 
by the Fund and the fund acts to mitigate all of its risks and has taken a number of 
specific actions to date to reduce the climate change risk borne by the pension fund and 
will continue to work hard in furthering the measures to reduce all risks. The burning of 
fossil fuels is well known as a key driver to climate change, however climate change risk 
for the Fund is much wider than just fossil fuel companies. 
 

The Fund is frequently asked which oil and gas companies align with a 1.5⁰c pathway. 
The answer, according to the Transition Pathway Initiative, is that as yet only a handful 

of companies approach aligning their operations with the Paris 1.5-2⁰c zone. 
Nevertheless, the reality is that it is not just the oil and gas majors who are not currently 

aligned with a below 2⁰c pathway; most major economies and the majority of global 
companies are not currently aligned with Paris. This challenge is not specific to a single 
sector, it is a journey for all nations, companies and sectors. Some Governments have 
made distant emissions commitments, but most have yet to fill in the detail. There is a 
need for clarity from policy makers in order that sector transition pathways may be 
navigated, with further dialogue required between nations on how best to achieve this. 
In the interim, investors must assume that global economic growth will continue, 
accepting that 80% of the World’s primary energy currently comes from fossil fuels and 
that an energy transition will unfold over the next 30-40 years. They have to evaluate 
the risks, reconcile them with their need to provide income to pay pensions, and engage 
with companies sectors to better align their operations. The Pension Committee have 
taken a number of actions reducing its exposure to fossil fuels, while the Fund’s current 
favoured approach of investor collaboration has made substantial demonstrable 
progress in engaging with major companies to more seriously address the energy 
transition. In addition, the Pension Committee has commissioned detailed reports from 
Eiris on the carbon exposure of its equity funds, including the transition pathway of the 
underlying investments within them, to better understand at a portfolio level how the 
overall exposure of the Fund is transitioning; this will form the baseline measure for 
further actions the Fund is making in line with its Statement of Responsible Investment 
Principles. 
 
The Fund does not directly invest in any specific company; instead it invests through a 
combination of holdings in passive index funds and active fund managers. As the owner 
of an index fund, we are passive recipients of the index and we can’t pick and choose 
the constituents of the global or regional indices. Local Government Pension Funds and 
many other Pension Funds typically follow an investment model which includes a 
proportion of their equity exposure in passive index funds and it is within this passive 
exposure that the Fund is mainly exposed to fossil fuels as cited in many of the public 
questions presented to Full Council. Ordinarily, passive funds are viewed as a cheap 
and efficient way to gain global equity market exposure. But there is a fiduciary 
argument that, given the great uncertainties imposed by the energy transition, it would 
be better to gain market exposure by Active Managers who do extensive due diligence 
over the stocks held in their portfolios, or via recourse to funds which filter and weight 

Page 20



MINUTES 

 

 

sector holdings in favour of the most carbon and resource efficient entities.  The ESPF 
has for some time consciously sought an underweight exposure to fossil fuel companies 
due to the uncertainties around the pace and direction of the energy transition.  Up to 
75% of the Fund’s fossil fuel exposure has historically come via exposure to these 
passive index funds. Recognising that many of the current market indices are not well 
aligned with the aims of the Paris Agreement, the Fund has been investigating 
alternative approaches over the last 9 months. 
 
The Pension Committee and officers have undertaken a considerable amount of work 
on ESG matters over the last 3 years. The Pension Committee on 22 June 2020, 
considered a number of reports that demonstrate the proactive approach being taken to 
address and debate ESG issues. The Committee decided to substantially reduce its 
exposure to passive funds. A by-product of this move will be that the Fund’s direct fossil 
fuel company exposure will fall by as much as 50% from its current £137.8m as of 31 
March 2020 (~4% of Assets Under Management) once a number of new manager 
selections have been made. At the same time, the Committee made a long run strategic 
commitment to double its infrastructure exposure to 8% of assets (~£300m), some of 
which, it is hoped, will raise its exposure to renewable energy assets. The Fund 
Actuary’s assessment is that these changes support meeting the Fund’s projected 
liabilities and with a level of greater certainty.  
The link below provides the papers and a webcast of the meeting:  
 https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=373&MId=4447&V 
er=4 
 
The Pension Committee on 21 September 2020 approved its Statement of Responsible 
Investment Principles outlining the funds approach to incorporate ESG factors into the 
fund’s decision making to better manage risk and benefit from more sustainable returns. 
In addition, the Committee agreed on the appointment of the managers (subject to due 
diligence) to implement the decision made to reduce the fund holdings in passive funds, 
resulting in the fund looking to subscribe 10% of its assets to impact active managers. 
With another 10% being subscribed to a passive like smart beta product that 
incorporates Environmental Social and Governance factors into its construction. Fund 
officers are currently working through the legal paperwork to ensure the new 
investments are in line with the fund strategy to protect fund beneficiaries’ pensions. 
The reduction in index funds and subscription into these new managers is anticipated to 
be completed in advance of the November Committee meeting for the Committee to 
then assess how these changes have positively impacted the fund. 
 
The link below takes you to the Statement of Responsible Investment Principles 
document:  
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s32544/Appendix%201%20 
 
Recent decisions by the Pension Committee, driven by work seeking to better align the 
Fund 
with sustainability, energy transition risks and opportunities, will see reduced exposure 
to 
passive index funds where much of the fossil fuel exposure resides, significant 
investment in 
an index approach better aligned to the Paris Agreement, new exposure to a number of 
active impact funds which seek to capitalise on sustainability and energy transition 
opportunities and a doubling of exposure over the next few years to infrastructure 
(including 

Page 21



MINUTES 

 

 

renewable) assets. 
 
The Fund embraces the United Nations Principles of Responsible Investment and the 
UK Stewardship Code. Its Responsible Investment approach is assisted and informed 
by its membership of and collaboration with the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 
Climate Action 100+ and the Institutional Investors Group for Climate Change. It also 
seeks to monitor its portfolio carbon footprint and assess the extent to which underlying 
holdings are making progress in aligning with the energy transition.  
 
The Committee regularly debates the merits of Engagement vs. Divestment in relation 
to fossil fuels. It does not currently recognise blanket divestment from entire sectors as 
an effective or fiduciary approach. Indeed, a blanket divestment from fossil fuels would 
have meaningful operational implications for ESPF.  Nor is it viewed as a sensible 
approach by any of the fund managers with whom we have engaged. Institutional 
engagement with the large oil and gas companies is more likely to drive change in those 
companies. We see this recently with the announcements made by a number of oil 
companies like BP, in the wake of pressure from institutional investment groups with 
whom ESPF collaborates. Such companies, while providing services that current day 
consumers cannot do without, also offer the potential to be a vehicle for change.   
  
Aside from Energy Incumbents, substantial financing for new renewable energy projects 
comes from both general and specialist infrastructure investment funds. The Fund is 
seeking to identify general and specialist infrastructure funds that have a significant 
focus on creating these new types of energy infrastructure. It is the Fund’s aspiration, 
where the economics make sense, to make a substantial contribution to building new 
capacity in this area.   
  

 
40.  Question from Oliver Darlington, Lewes, East Sussex   
 
In October 2019 ESCC declared a climate emergency and this year’s weather was a 
reminder of it.  What steps has the Council taken to reduce its emissions of carbon 
dioxide to avert this catastrophe? 
 
Response by the Lead Member for Resources 
 
In October 2019 ESCC committed to becoming carbon neutral from its activities as soon 
as possible and in an event by 2050. Since then the Council has: 

1) Developed a climate emergency plan, which is on our website (see: 
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing/). 

2) Updated our corporate carbon footprint, which is also on our website (see:  
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing/). 

3) Recruited a dedicated Climate Emergency Officer. 
4) Begun to deliver the priority actions set out in the climate emergency plan. 

 
We have also developed a number of projects to support local residents and businesses 
to reduce carbon too. These include: 

1) Working in partnership with other local authorities across Sussex to promote 
the take up of solar PV, through the Sussex Solar Together project (see: 
https://solartogether.co.uk/eastsussex/home#). 

2) Providing local businesses with free energy audits and grants to cut carbon 
and operating costs (see: https://locase.co.uk/). 

Page 22

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/priorities/whatawearedoing/
https://solartogether.co.uk/eastsussex/home
https://locase.co.uk/


MINUTES 

 

 

3) securing £908,000 of government funding to help those in fuel poverty to 
improve the energy efficiency of their homes. 

 
41.  Question from Madelaine Cooper, Hastings, East Sussex   
I’d like to know what positive steps the East Sussex Council is taking to preserve our 
valuable and important public open green spaces. 
 
I ask this in the light of Planning Permissions that are being passed to actively destroy 
green space at the heart of our community - particularly in the White Rock area. 
 
While I appreciate and support the need for well designed, sustainable and carbon 
neutral public housing to be built, there are far more appropriate spaces for such 
development.  The infrastructure of roads, services and amenities is overstretched at 
present in this area - the introduction of hundreds of new homes will exacerbate the 
problems across this already under-serviced area.  More roads, deliveries, service 
traffic in this area would be disastrous to an already broken road infrastructure as well 
as adding hugely to pollution and congestion in the centre of the town.   
 
Can we also be assured that even when appropriate sites are chosen for housing 
development, the design of these buildings will be based on the most forward-thinking, 
environmentally sustainable knowledge and that East Sussex Council can be proudly at 
the forefront of the fulfilment of sustainable public housing building? 
 

Response by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 

Planning applications, such as the ones you refer to in the White Rock area, are 
considered and determined by the local planning authorities in East Sussex, namely the 
likes of Hastings Borough Council, and not the County Council.  Whilst the County 
Council is a statutory consultee on certain applications, the remit of issues we look at is 
limited to matters such as highways impact and local flood risk considerations.  We 
seek to ensure that such matters are appropriately addressed in development proposals 
and where they are not, we will raise an objection to the proposal.  However, our views 
are not binding upon the local planning authority, who are the ultimate decision makers 
for such applications. 
 
In light of this, I would suggest that the question you raise would be more appropriate 
for Hastings Borough Council to consider and respond to. 
 

42.  Question from Lucy Atabey, Horan, East Sussex   
 

Why do you continue to allow so much new housing in East Sussex when we have 
evidence it is damaging the environment and contributing to climate change?  
 
Response by the Lead Member for Transport and Environment 

Considering and determining planning applications for new housing is not the 
responsibility of East Sussex County Council.  Within the county, the local planning 
authorities (Hastings, Rother, Wealden, Lewes, Eastbourne and the South Downs 
National Park Authority) are responsible for the determination of such applications and 
also for the preparation of Local Plans that identify where new housing development will 
take place.  In light of this, I would suggest that the question is more appropriate for the 
local planning authorities to respond to. 

Page 23



MINUTES 

 

 

 
Note: Questions 43 to 46 relate to a similar issue. The answer to these questions is set 
out after question 46 below 
 

43.  The same or similar questions were asked by: 
 
Ian Sier, Hastings East Sussex 
Jon Griffith, Hastings, East Sussex   
John Phillips, Rye, East Sussex 
Robert Blizard, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex 
Hilda Kean, Hastings, East Sussex 
Duncan Taylor. Lewes, East Sussex 
Laurance Holden, Burwash, East Sussex 
Karen Vincent-Jones, Hove 
Helen Stollar, Brighton 
Kathleen McMullen, Hove 
Aidan Pettitt, Brighton 
Judy Granville, Hove 
Patricia Shobaki, Hove 
Tony Greenstein, Hove 
Jo Tulloch, Brighton 
Nadia Edmond, Brighton 
Patricia Cockrell, Lewes, East Sussex 
Elaine Sweetman, Brighton 
David Fellows, Brighton 
Judith Land, Lewes, East Sussex 
Ann Hallam, Brighton 
Alison Bojang, Hove 
Kristina Cole, Rye, East Sussex 
 

I am very concerned to see research carried out by the PSC (Palestine Solidarity 
Campaign) has shown that the East Sussex Pension Fund [ESPF] has approximately 
£111 million invested in 63 companies complicit in Israel's abuses of Palestinian human 
rights and in violation of international law. 
 
These violations of human rights and international law include the illegal military 
occupation and settlement of Palestinian land in the West Bank, East Jerusalem and 
the Golan Heights, as affirmed by the UN Security Council, and the UK government; the 
inhumane land, sea and air blockade on Gaza, deemed a flagrant violation of 
international human rights and humanitarian law by UN experts; and the denial of the 
fundamental human right of dispossessed Palestinian refugees to return to the land 
from which they, or their family members, were expelled, in violation of UN Resolution 
194. 
 
Specifically, I am extremely concerned that the ESPF has over £3 million invested in 11 
companies which are on the United Nations list of companies involved in Israel's illegal 
settlement economy. Israel's settlements on occupied land are illegal under 
international law and the International Criminal Court prosecutor is investigating their 
construction as a war crime. Our own Foreign and Commonwealth Office has spoken 
out against economic involvement in the settlements: 'There are clear risks related to 
economic and financial activities in the settlements and we do not encourage or offer 

Page 24



MINUTES 

 

 

support to such activity.' 
 
These 11 companies operating and profiting from stolen land are Bank Hapoalim, Paz 
Oil Company, Israel Discount Bank, Bezeq, Booking.com, Expedia, General Mills, 
Delek, Mizrahi Tefahot Bank, First International Bank and Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd. 
 
In addition, the Pension Fund has £25,295 invested in Elbit Systems. Elbit is one of 
Israel's biggest arms manufacturers and appears on most blacklists prepared by 
'socially responsible' investment research companies. The firm constructs the militarised 
drones used by Israel to bombard Palestinian civilians to death during its successive 
wars against the population of the Gaza Strip. They also produce the surveillance 
drones that the Israeli army uses during military operations of house arrests in the 
occupied West Bank. Norwegian state pension fund, Danish bank Danske Bank, Dutch 
pension giant ABP, the Swedish AP pension fund and Folksam (Sweden) have all 
divested from Elbit, as has Europe's largest bank HSBC. 
 
When this issue was last put before the Council by members of the public in July 2020 
the Chair of the Pension Committee did not appear to engage directly with the issue. He 
gave a general answer: 
"The Fund continues to have the right, should it wish, to disinvest or boycott on non-
financial grounds provided it meets the requirements of the Investment guidance." 
"The Fund embraces the United Nations Principles of Responsible Investment and the 
UK Stewardship Code." 
However, the UN Guiding Principles provides a clear statement on the responsibilities 
that businesses and investors should have in regard to human rights abuses. How can 
a pension fund that claims to embrace the UN Guiding Principles hold companies in its 
portfolio that the United Nations has highlighted as companies in breach of international 
law? 
 
Instead of a general answer about what is possible I would like to know what measures 
the ESPF intends to take to divest from these specific companies I have raised 
concerns about, and when? I am aware these may be indirect investments through 
funds but there are ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) screened funds that 
don't hold any of these companies. Direct or indirect, the responsibility is the same. Is it 
not time for ESPF to divest from companies in flagrant breach of international law? Will 
the issue be put before the Pension Committee for discussion on Monday 30 
November? Also, do you intend to implement screening and due diligence procedures 
to ensure that scheme members' money is not used to support the violation of 
international law in future. If so, when? 
 
44.  Question from Phillip Colley, Rye, East Sussex   
 

I am shocked at the recent revelations from research carried out by the Palestine 
Solidarity Campaign into the dubious investment choices of the East Sussex Pension 
Fund.  
Retirement is supposed to be a happy time. East Sussex council employees, having 
dutifully served our community during their working life, are just as entitled to a happy 
retirement as anyone else. My question is… how is it possible for any ex-council 
employee with a conscience to truly enjoy their retirement whilst knowing that their 
pension has been built on the misery, murder and appalling human rights abuses of 
Palestinian men, women and children? As a council you have a choice about whether to 

Page 25



MINUTES 

 

 

do the right thing, or not, and I just cannot understand how you have allowed the current 
situation regarding the Pension Fund to come to pass. It is simply shameful. Please 
divest immediately from the 63 companies identified as complicit in the Palestine 
Solidarity Campaign’s report  

 
45.  Question from Khosrow Poolad, St Leonards on Sea, East Sussex   
 

In our interconnected world, businessmen’s complicity in war crimes, mass 
murder, collective punishment and erosion of human dignity can never be 
mitigated as a naive entrepreneurial project; it can never be excluded from 
our collective memory and is bound to be universally condemned. 
As a British residing in East Sussex I find your part in the Israeli War Crimes 
objectionable, thus I am writing to refresh your memory and pose a question 
and demand a response: 
I like to invite the Chair to compare the 1947 map of Palestine (when 94.2% of 
the cultivated lands were Palestinians' and only 5.8% were in Jewish 
ownership), with the 2020 map (which shows only a fraction of the 1947 map 
belongs to the Palestinians – and that fraction has also been shrinking; thanks 
to the illegal settlements and the perpetual Western complicity in Israel’s war 
crimes) - only then can you realise the extent of the suffering of millions of 
Palestinians. To briefly refresh your memory: 
In 1948, exactly 530 Palestinian villages were destroyed by Israeli militants; 
13,000 Palestinians were killed and 750,000 Palestinians were expelled from 
their lands and homes ending up refugees in neighbouring countries. After 
decades the refugees and their dependants are still fighting in vain for the right 
to return to their homelands. There are more than 7 million Palestinian 
refugees, several millions are still supported by the UN. Every Israeli military 
attack especially since 2000 has killed many Palestinians and left many 
Palestinian families with children homeless and traumatised. Certainly you 
have been well aware of these crimes. 
Even the Arab Israelis who live inside Israel do not enjoy equality before law or 
full protection; they also suffer from employment discrimination and other 
prejudices. The Palestinians have been left with nothing due to Israel’s 
unceasing repression and wars backed by people with your mind-set and 
financial support. As long as Israel refuses to respect the UN resolutions, and 
the US, UK and other European countries continue to back Israel’s ruthless 
colonial aggression, there will be no prospect of a peaceful solution. 
As a researcher and writer I find the research carried out by the PSC 
(Palestine Solidarity Campaign) that shows the East Sussex Pension Fund 
[ESPF] has approximately £111 million invested in 63 companies complicit in 
Israel's abuses of Palestinian human rights and in violation of international law, 
too disturbing. The information implies that you have knowingly been a part 
of this apartheid aggression supporting the mass murder and trauma that 
millions of Palestinians have been subjected to. 
These violations of human rights and international law include the illegal 
military occupation and settlement of Palestinian land in the West Bank, East 
Jerusalem and the Golan Heights, as affirmed by the UN Security Council, and 
the UK government; the inhumane land, sea and air blockade on Gaza, 
deemed a flagrant violation of international human rights and humanitarian law 
by UN experts; and the denial of the fundamental human right of dispossessed 
Palestinian refugees to return to the land from which they, or their family 

Page 26



MINUTES 

 

 

members, were expelled, in violation of UN Resolution 194. 
Specifically, I am extremely concerned that the ESPF has over £3 million 
invested in 11 companies which are on the United Nations list of companies 
involved in Israel's illegal settlement economy. Israel's settlements on occupied 
land are illegal under international law and the International Criminal Court 
prosecutor is investigating their construction as a war crime. Our own Foreign 
and Commonwealth Office has spoken out against economic involvement in 
the settlements: 'There are clear risks related to economic and financial 
activities in the settlements and we do not encourage or offer support to such 
activity.' 
These 11 companies operating and profiting from stolen land are Bank 
Hapoalim, Paz Oil Company, Israel Discount Bank, Bezeq, Booking.com, 
Expedia, General Mills, Delek, Mizrahi Tefahot Bank, First International Bank 
and Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd. 
In addition, the Pension Fund has £25,295 invested in Elbit Systems. Elbit is 
one of Israel's biggest arms manufacturers and appears on most blacklists 
prepared by 'socially responsible' investment research companies. The firm 
constructs the militarised drones used by Israel to bombard Palestinian 
civilians to death during its successive wars against the population of the Gaza 
Strip. They also produce the surveillance drones that the Israeli army uses 
during military operations of house arrests in the occupied West Bank. 
Norwegian state pension fund, Danish bank Danske Bank, Dutch pension giant 
ABP, the Swedish AP pension fund and Folksam (Sweden) have all divested 
from Elbit, as has Europe's largest bank HSBC. 
When this issue was last put before the Council by members of the public in 
July 2020 the Chair of the Pension Committee did not appear to engage 
directly with the issue. He gave a general answer: 
"The Fund continues to have the right, should it wish, to disinvest or boycott on 
non-financial grounds provided it meets the requirements of the Investment 
guidance." 
"The Fund embraces the United Nations Principles of Responsible Investment 
and the UK Stewardship Code." 
However, the UN Guiding Principles provides a clear statement on the 
responsibilities that businesses and investors should have in regard to human 
rights abuses. How can a pension fund that claims to embrace the UN 
Guiding Principles hold companies in its portfolio that the United Nations 
has highlighted as companies in breach of international law? 
Instead of a general answer about what is possible I would like to know what 
measures the ESPF intends to take to divest from these specific companies I 
have raised concerns about, and when? I am aware these may be indirect 
investments through funds but there are ESG (Environmental, Social and 
Governance) screened funds that don't hold any of these companies. Direct or 
indirect, the responsibility is the same. Is it not time for ESPF to divest from 
companies in flagrant breach of international law? Will the issue be put before 
the Pension Committee for discussion on Monday 30 November? Also, do you 
intend to implement screening and due diligence procedures to ensure that 
scheme members' money is not used to support the violation of international 
law in future. If so, when? 
These investments cannot be claimed to have been made naively: history of 
the Israeli–Palestinian Conflict is over half a century old. 
Thank you for your time. While I appreciate that ESPF members deserve 
decent pensions it should not be at the expense of some of the most 

Page 27



MINUTES 

 

 

oppressed and vulnerable people in the world. 
 
46.  Question from David Roger, Brighton   
I am writing having learned that the East Sussex Pension Fund has invested 
£111million in 63 companies involved in Israel’s violation of both international and 
human rights laws by their continuing illegal occupation of Palestinian Territories 
beyond the `UN defined 1967 borders and their defying  terms of the Geneva War 
Crimes Convention ,transgression of which is currently being formally investigated by 
the International Criminal Court. 
Specifically, the ESPF has 3 million invested in companies listed by the UN as investing 
in illegal settlements on occupied land and against the policy of our own Foreign Office. 
The settlements constitute a war crime and it is therefore surely illegal for the ESPF to 
be financially supporting them They are Booking.com,Expedia,General Mills, Delek, 
First International Bank,Mizrahi Tefahot Bank, Bank Hapoalim,Paz Oil 
Company,Bezeq,and Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd There is also £25,000 invested in 
Elbit systems which many reputable funds are divesting from  because they 
manufacture killing drones used illegally against civilians  
 
Apparently the ESPF embraces the United Nations Principles of Responsible 
Investment and the UK Stewardship Code  
As a council tax payer I cannot tolerate my tax being used to profit from the breaking of 
international law and the oppression Of civilian populations  
I would like these investments withdrawn at the meeting of the Pensions Committee on 
November 30 and an assurance that there will be more rigorous screening of unethical 
investment In the future 
 
Response by the Chair of the Pension Committee to questions 43 to 46 above 

The East Sussex Pension Fund (the Fund) does not directly invest in any specific 
company. The Fund instead invests through a combination of holdings in passive index 
funds and active fund managers. When investing LGPS fund monies the Fund is 
required to follow the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (the 2016 Regulations) and guidance as set out 
by the Secretary of State.  
 
MHCLG guidance encourages the use of index funds as an intrinsic part of investment 
strategy at an LGPS Fund pool level due to the lower costs associated with investing in 
these funds compared to active mandates. Index funds provide reduced volatility in 
investment performance, providing exposure to entire market as defined by the 
reference index. As the owner of an index fund, you are not consciously investing in any 
individual companies. You are passive around those choices as these are dictated by 
the composition of the index and there is no way in which the fund can influence the 
holdings in that index. 
 
In making any investment decision the Fund will seek to follow its published Investment 
Strategy Statement and its Statement of Responsible Investment Principles, to balance 
the duties they have to all scheme stakeholders, weigh up the potential financial impact 
and take into consideration the views of beneficiaries where any non-financial factor is 
taken into account.   
 
The current fund exposure to the specific companies addressed in these questions are 
solely held within its allocation to passive investments. For these companies that are 

Page 28



MINUTES 

 

 

identified in the questions as operating and profiting from stolen land, the Fund has 
exposure of just under £1.8m and has a further £16k with Elbit Systems.  
The Fund made the active decision at its meeting on 22 June 2020 to substantially 
reduce its exposure to passive funds. Following on from this decision the committee at 
its meeting on 21 September 2020 agreed on the new investment arrangements to 
implement this change. Fund officers are currently executing this movement in 
investment strategy working with its legal advisers and custodian to enable subscription 
and transition of the investments. Once this has been completed the Fund expects to 
see a further reduction in any exposure to these companies.  
The Fund’s Statement of Responsible Investment Principles was agreed in September 
which the fund will work to in all new investment decision making. This places 
Responsible Investment at the heart of all investment decisions and provides increased 
transparency and monitoring of these investments. Once the new investment 
arrangements are in place a further review of the Funds position will take place and this 
will be considered by the Committee.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



MINUTES 

 

 

WRITTEN QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER 44 
 
1.  Question by Councillor O’Keeffe to the Chair of the Pension Committee   

At the December 2019 Full Council meeting, Julia Hilton from Hastings asked the 
following supplementary question to a written question: 

‘According to the UN-backed Principles of Responsible Investment (PRI), which 
represents investors with $86 trillion of assets under management, the ever-worsening 
impacts of climate change are going to produce an inevitable policy response on the 
part of the world’s governments. Indeed, they predict “an inevitable policy response by 
2025 that will be forceful, abrupt and disorderly because of the delay …. creat[ing] 
considerably greater disruption than many investors and businesses are prepared for 
today.” 

‘What consideration did this year’s annual investment strategy review give to the 
possible impact on the Fund of such a policy response?’ 

She was told then (by the Pension Committee’s Chair Gerard Fox) that she would 
receive a written answer to her question but has not received one. 

What was the answer to her question? 
 
Answer by the Chair of the Pension Committee   
 
This year’s annual investment strategy review was due to take place on the 13 July. 
Unfortunately, this specific review was not able to go ahead as planned due to the 
restrictions imposed by the current pandemic. It was instead replaced with a series of 
shorter meetings through two working groups, one focused specifically on ESG to 
ensure the Fund was on top to research and issues to then feed into the second larger 
Investment Strategy working group which looked at specific parts of the strategy these 
have taken place over the summer months and have been concluded at the pension 
committee’s meeting on 21 September.  
 
By taking this approach it enabled the Fund to fully understand the construction of and 
impact of various financial scenarios using an asset liability model (ALM) of the Fund 
including forceful, abrupt and disorderly policy responses. By adjusting the strategic 
asset allocation, the Fund was able to identify suitable changes that would best respond 
to these scenarios. 
 
The results prompted the Committee to amend its equity structure to make it more 
resilient. The review has taken place which has resulted in the fund looking to subscribe 
10% of its assets to impact active managers. With another 10% being subscribed to a 
passive like smart beta product that incorporates Environmental Social and Governance 
factors into its construction. 
 
2.  Question by Councillor O’Keeffe to the Chair of the Pension Committee   
 
Looking forward, now that the East Sussex Pension Fund has joined the Principles for 
Responsible Investment (PRI), what steps will it be taking to address the clear and 
present financial danger highlighted by the PRI – a danger that may well arise even 
earlier now as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic? 
 
 

Page 30



MINUTES 

 

 

Answer by the Chair of the Pension Committee   
 
By signing up to the PRI the East Sussex Pension Fund has committed to the six 
principles of responsible investing as set out by the PRI these are: 

 Principle 1: We will incorporate ESG issues into investment analysis and 
decision-making processes. 

 Principle 2: We will be active owners and incorporate ESG issues into our 
ownership policies and practices. 

 Principle 3: We will seek appropriate disclosure on ESG issues by the entities in 
which we invest. 

 Principle 4: We will promote acceptance and implementation of the Principles 
within the investment industry. 

 Principle 5: We will work together to enhance our effectiveness in implementing 
the Principles. 

 Principle 6: We will each report on our activities and progress towards 
implementing the Principles. 

Each of these Principles were addressed in the Funds Statement of Responsible 
Investment Principles that was approved at the Pensions Committee meeting on 21 
September 2020.  

Principle 6 requires all signatory organisations report annually to the PRI on their 
responsible investment activity. It will be from this information that the PRI will monitor 
signatory progress against the minimum requirements as set out below: 

 Formalised RI policy (or similar) or a policy that covers E/S/G issues covering 
>50% of AUM; 

 Staff (internal or external) explicitly responsible for implementing responsible 
investment policy; and  

 Senior level oversight of and accountability mechanisms for implementing 
responsible investment. 

These requirements and indicators were selected because they are applicable to all 
types of signatories. ESPF already meets these requirements and will look to use the 
PRI reporting to enhance its high standards on responsible investment.  

In addition to signing up to the PRI, ESPF has also joined the Institutional Investors 
Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) this is the European membership body for investor 
collaboration on climate change and the voice of investors taking action for a 
prosperous, low-carbon future. IIGCC has more than 190 members, mainly pension 
funds and asset managers, across 14 countries, with over €28 trillion in assets under 
management. 

The IIGCC mission is to mobilise capital for the low carbon transition and to ensure 
resilience to the impacts of a changing climate by collaborating with business, policy 
makers and fellow investors. IIGCC works to support and help define the public policies, 
investment practices and corporate behaviours that address the long-term risks and 
opportunities associated with climate change. Members consider it a fiduciary duty to 
ensure stranded asset risk or other losses from climate change are minimised and that 
opportunities presented by the transition to a low carbon economy – such as renewable 
energy, new technologies and energy efficiency – are maximised. 

Page 31



MINUTES 

 

 

Further to enhance our response we have committed to the Climate Action 100+ 
initiative.  Climate Action 100+ is an investor initiative to ensure the world’s largest 
corporate greenhouse gas emitters take necessary action on climate change. The 
companies include 100 ‘systemically important emitters’, accounting for two-thirds of 
annual global industrial emissions, alongside more than 60 others with significant 
opportunity to drive the clean energy transition.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

https://na01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.climateaction100.org%2F&data=02%7C01%7Canne.simpson%40calpers.ca.gov%7C1f60a7e8154647cda0c608d67a6c06fe%7Cbeec1a79666c427b859c00febbe93470%7C0%7C0%7C636831001728468114&sdata=XUjj2dM7IczENr3%2BfQZItXSJAKBgUWNHr%2FSYXPNn1BE%3D&reserved=0


CABINET 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

 

The Cabinet met on 10 November 2020.  Attendances:- 
 
 Councillor Glazier (Chair)  
 Councillors Bennett, Bentley, Claire Dowling, Maynard, Simmons, Standley and 

Tidy    
 
1. Scrutiny Review of Road Markings 
 
1.1 The Cabinet has considered a report of the Place Scrutiny Committee on its Review of 
Road Markings. The report of the Scrutiny Committee is included elsewhere on the agenda (item 
6).  
 
1.2 In September 2019, the Place Scrutiny Committee agreed to establish a Review Board to 
undertake a Scrutiny Review of Road Markings. The scope of the review included; 

 

 The types of road markings and how frequently they are renewed;  

 the specifications for road markings and how they are applied;  

 whether utility company reinstatement works are replacing road markings adequately; 

 the road markings the Parking Team is responsible for (e.g. double yellow lines, 
parking bays etc.); and 

 the role of the Road Safety Team regarding road markings.  
 

1.3      The lines of enquiry which were explored in this review were: 
 

 Could the current system of prioritisation for routine maintenance work to 
refresh/renew road markings be improved? 

 Why do some road markings appear to wear out more rapidly than expected?  

 How frequently are parking enforcement road markings renewed and are there 
additional road markings that could be paid for from the parking budget?   

 What do other local authorities spend on road markings and is the ESCC level of 
expenditure adequate? 

 
1.4   The Scrutiny Review of Road Markings is welcomed by the Communities, Economy and 
Transport Department and the opportunity afforded by this review to explain to Members how the 
service is delivered. The Scrutiny Review has highlighted several concerns about the current 
approach to maintaining road markings in the county.   
 

1.5 In welcoming the findings of the Scrutiny Committee, the Cabinet has considered a report 
by the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport (as set out in Appendix 1 to this report) 
on the specific recommendations and endorsed it as its response to the recommendations 
 
1.6 The Cabinet, in welcoming the report, recommends the County Council to –  
 

 approve the response of the Director of Communities, Economy and Transport on the 
implementation of the recommendations in the Scrutiny Committee’s report.  

 
2. Coronavirus update 

 
2.1 Staff across the Council remain involved in a huge amount of work to support the national 
and local response to the Covid-19 pandemic. We have continued to change and adapt services 
to meet the evolving situation over the summer and autumn, and to prioritise looking after the 
most vulnerable people and preventing Covid-19 transmission wherever possible.  Page 33

Agenda Item 5



CABINET 

 
2.2 Since the last update to Cabinet in early June, the Council has responded to 
Government’s gradual loosening of national lockdown arrangements, adapting services to be 
Covid-secure, while capturing the lessons learnt from different ways of working. Some staff have 
worked from office bases or directly with clients throughout the pandemic, with appropriate 
safeguards in place, where this has been essential to maintain services. Where possible and 
appropriate, frontline services which had needed to close have reopened and/or returned to face 
to face working with safeguards in place. Where remote working has proved efficient and effective 
this is continuing in line with Government guidance in order to help contain the spread of the virus 
and to prioritise the use of buildings for essential purposes. 
 
2.3 We are also undertaking our service and financial planning in the new context. Through 
our well-established Reconciling Policy, Performance and Resources (RPPR) process we are 
integrating planning for the recovery from Covid-19 with our understanding of other trends and 
pressures to form an integrated view of future service needs. The changes we have made and 
economic upheaval brought about by the pandemic will have profound and potentially permanent 
impacts on our services and finances which need to be factored into our planning.  
 
2.4 We are continuing to keep a careful record of all the additional costs we have incurred as 
result of the decisions we have made in order to tackle the pandemic. Whilst the Government has 
partially recognised the additional costs to local government and has made additional funding 
available, it is insufficient to meet all the pressures we face, particularly in relation to adult social 
care and costs in future years. We will need to continue to lobby strongly for continuing funding to 
meet residents’ needs and to support recovery.  
 
2.5 Members have received regular briefings on the work the Council is undertaking to help 
tackle the Covid-19 outbreak. This report provides an update on the latest position to the week 
ending 30 October. Full details of the changes to our services continue to be available on our 
website.  
 
2.6 On 31 October, the Prime Minister announced new national restrictions to come into effect 
from 5 November to limit the spread of coronavirus. These restrictions include a requirement to 
only leave home for specific reasons and the closure on non-essential shops, leisure and 
entertainment venues. The furlough scheme that was due to end has been extended another 
month in support of the business closure measures. We are working to understand the 
implications of the measures for the way we work and deliver services, and the potential impact 
on our residents, businesses and partners to consider any changes in support that will be needed.   
 
This report covers: 
 

 Covid-19 in East Sussex  Highways and Transport 

           Outbreak planning/test and trace            Parking charges 

 Adult Social Care            Active travel programme 

 Children’s Services            Business Services 

 PPE  Member Meetings 

 Shielded Cohort  Communications 

 Trading Standards  Financial Implications 

 Libraries  Economy 

 Waste Recycling Sites  Recovery and next steps 

 
Covid-19 in East Sussex  
 
2.7 Overall, East Sussex has experienced lower levels of total confirmed cases than the 
national average, and this is the case for each of the five District and Borough Councils within the 
county. In East Sussex cases reduced from April and early May, which was the first wave of the 
pandemic, with low numbers and an overall decline throughout June, July and August. As cases 
started rising nationally at the beginning of September, East Sussex saw a similar pattern of rising 

Page 34



CABINET 

cases albeit at a smaller rate. Although cases continued rising nationally the trend then initially 
reversed in East Sussex, before again increasing. 
 
2.8 The weekly rate of cases in England has shown a significant increase in September and 
October and is currently at 224 per 100,000. Although the East Sussex weekly rate is significantly 
lower than the England weekly rate (64 compared to 224), the past week has shown a large 
increase. Cases in the last 14 days continue to show a higher proportion amongst younger age 
groups than we have seen overall since the pandemic started. 
 
Table: Confirmed cases, as of 28 October 2020 

 All confirmed cases to date 
7-day period 

17th Oct to 23rd Oct 

 Cases 

Rate per 

100,000 

population 

LA rank * Cases 

Rate per 

100,000 

population 

LA rank * 

England 799,019 1,420  126,061 224  

South East 70,898 772  9,153 100  

East Sussex 3,098 556 145/149 358 64 147/149 

Eastbourne 745 718 256/315 78 75 277/315 

Hastings 382 412 306/315 47 51 303/315 

Lewes 646 626 273/315 82 79 267/315 

Rother 374 389 307/315 40 42 310/315 

Wealden 951 589 279/315 111 69 281/315 

*where 1 = highest rate. Ranks are out of 149 upper tier local authorities and 315 lower tier local 
authorities 
Source: https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk 

 
2.9 Hospitalisations from Covid-19 and also deaths associated with Covid-19 remained low in 
the county through most of the summer. The numbers started to increase at the beginning of 
October and as of 28 October there were 17 patients with Covid-19 in hospital across East 
Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust and 30 at Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust. There have been six deaths occurring since the start of September where Covid-19 was 
mentioned on the death certificate. 
 
2.10  Public Health continually monitors the situation in consultation with health and borough 
and district partners. This includes reviewing recent cases, identifying areas that may not be 
Covid-secure, and proactively supporting businesses and other settings to prevent cases and limit 
the spread of potential outbreaks. On a weekly basis this involves key partners understanding the 
latest Covid-19 infections and agreeing the local operational response. 
 
Outbreak planning/test and trace  
 
2.11 Government launched a national Covid-19 Contain Framework in mid-July, which set out 
how NHS Test and Trace and the Joint Biosecurity Centre will work with local authorities, Public 
Health England (PHE) and the public to contain and manage local Covid-19 outbreaks. The 
framework provided further guidance on roles, responsibilities and powers of Upper Tier Local 
Authorities (UTLA) in managing local outbreaks, following publication of Local Outbreak 
Management Plans by all UTLAs in June. Government has allocated funding to UTLAs to support 
development and delivery of these plans. ESCC has received £2.5m which is being used to 
support implementation of the East Sussex Local Outbreak Control Plan approved by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board in July. The move to localised management of outbreaks is part of the 
Government’s strategy to undertake a targeted response, employ smarter restrictions and limit 
nation-wide restrictions as far as is possible to manage the pandemic. However, Government 

Page 35

https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/


CABINET 

reinstated some nation-wide restrictions following a national increase in COVID-19 case rates 
since early September, before announcing a month-long national lockdown at the end of October. 
 
2.12 The second iteration of the East Sussex Outbreak Control Plan was reported to the Health 
and Wellbeing Board in September. This included an escalation framework which set out the 
points at which local cases or outbreaks may require an escalated response, communications and 
action with partners. In consultation with local partners, the Director of Public Health agreed East 
Sussex should move from ‘monitor and contain’ to ‘raised local alertness’ on the escalation 
framework in September in response to the rising number of cases. The framework is now being 
updated again to take account of the new national alert levels which consist of three levels, or 
tiers: Medium (Tier 1), High (Tier 2), and Very High (Tier 3). East Sussex is currently at the lowest 
alert level: Medium, or Tier 1.  
 
2.13 Test and trace continues to be led nationally. People with symptoms of coronavirus are 
able to access a test through the national website. East Sussex has taken up the offer to support 
the national NHS Test and Trace system with local contact tracing. Final plans are being agreed 
with the national team for this to be activated imminently. 
 
2.14 The local contact tracing model developed for the county sees the West Sussex County 
Council customer services call centre managing the East Sussex and West Sussex contact 
tracing call operations. The telephone number seen by the person contacted will be an East 
Sussex local number, not a number withheld, with reply facility via text, email and voicemail. The 
service will operate between 8am-8pm seven days a week. Names and contact details will be 
checked with all District and Borough Councils through their records, council tax, benefits system 
and housing. Specialist oversight will be offered by the local Public Health Team. House calls will 
be undertaken, in exceptional circumstances, by District and Borough Environmental Health 
teams where someone is uncontactable. This may become more frequent in a lockdown situation, 
as people are unable to top up pay-as-you-go mobile phones. Where the individual answers the 
door, the Environmental Health Officer will discuss the positive result, social distancing 
requirements, extra support needs and identify contacts to feed back for entry into the national 
system. Where there is no answer, a ‘sorry I missed you’ postcard will be left with contact details. 
 
2.15 On 24 September 2020 the national NHS test and trace app was launched and will alert 
users if they have been in contact with a confirmed case of Covid-19 and advise them to self-
isolate. Council staff are able to access testing through national schemes and also can contact 
Human Resources if there are capacity issues. 
 
2.16 A regional testing site opened at Plumpton Racecourse on 2 October 2020 which is drive-
in only. There are also local testing sites in Bexhill and Eastbourne (Eastbourne opened on 9 
October 2020). A new walk-through testing centre opened on 16 October at the former 
Helenswood Academy upper school car park in Hastings, making more tests available for 
Hastings residents, particularly those who don’t have access to a private vehicle. In addition, 
mobile testing units, which can be directed to areas of concern for two to three days a month, 
have been to Uckfield, Eastbourne, Lewes and Hastings recently.  
 
2.17 Care home testing for residents and staff continues to be challenging. Care homes report 
frequent delays in test results coming back to homes which makes staffing arrangements difficult 
to plan. Some homes have had to repeat tests due to the results not being returned, which can be 
a cause of anxiety for residents, especially those with dementia and learning disabilities.  
 
2.18 In an outbreak situation the PHE health protection team will lead on the testing of all staff 
and residents on day 1 and again for the people testing negative on days 4 to 7. Residents who 
test positive for Covid-19 should not be included in whole home testing until 90 days after the 
original positive test, unless they develop new symptoms. There is a one-off offer of whole home 
testing for specialist settings such as those in supported living, which will be rolled out in the next 
two months. 
 

Page 36



CABINET 

2.19 There is now a legal requirement for people to self-isolate when they test positive for 
Covid-19 or are instructed to by NHS Test and Trace. New fines have been brought in to enforce 
the requirement. People on lower incomes who cannot work from home and have lost income as 
a result of being asked to self-isolate will receive a payment of £500, administered via District and 
Borough Councils. 
 
Adult Social Care  
 
2.20 Earlier this year, Government established an Adult Social Care (ASC) Taskforce to 
oversee delivery of support to the social care sector in its response to Covid-19; and of the 
Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) Social Care Action Plan. As part of its work, the 
Taskforce was commissioned to advise the Minister of State for Social Care on what needed to be 
in place in the care sector in England to respond to Covid-19 ahead of winter. The final report of 
the Taskforce, published in late September, includes 52 recommendations for Government, local 
authorities, the NHS and others within the health and social care system. We are working through 
the recommendations with our partners across the local health and social care system.  
 
2.21 The Taskforce recommendations have informed Government’s ASC Winter Plan, also 
published in September, setting out its ambitions for and challenges facing the social care sector 
this winter. The plan outlines actions DHSC is taking and actions local systems (councils, the 
NHS and Voluntary and Community Sector) should take to ensure that high-quality, safe and 
timely care is provided to everyone who needs it, whilst protecting people who need care, their 
carers and the social care workforce from Covid-19.  
 
2.22 The plan outlines a wide-range of actions that local systems and DHSC are already taking 
to provide care while reducing transmission of Covid-19. Further actions the plan outlines DHSC 
is taking include:  

 working up a designation scheme with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) for premises 
that are safe for people leaving hospital who have tested positive for COVID-19 or are 
awaiting a test result – although it will remain councils’ responsibility to provide alternative 
accommodation in local systems for supporting people with a positive test result requiring 
care;  

 providing free Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) (for Covid-19 needs in line with 
current guidance) to care homes and domiciliary care providers via the PPE portal until the 
end of March 2021; 

 providing free PPE to local resilience forums (LRFs) who wish to continue PPE 
distribution, and to local authorities in other areas, to distribute to social care providers 
ineligible for supply via the PPE portal, until the end of March 2021; 

 working with local authorities and the CQC to strengthen their monitoring and regulation 
role to ensure infection prevention and control procedures are taking place;  

 publishing a new online Adult Social Care Dashboard, bringing together data from the 
Capacity Tracker and other sources;  

 publishing information about effective local and regional protocols and operational 
procedures based on what we have learnt so far to support areas with local outbreaks 
and/or increased community transmission; and  

 in partnership with the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services and Local 
Government Association, carrying out a Service Continuity and Care Market Review in the 
autumn to understand the robustness of the plans local authorities have in place, and what 
additional support may be needed. 

 
2.23 The primary new and additional actions for ESCC resulting from the plan are:  

 to put in a place an East Sussex Winter Plan building on existing planning, including the 
East Sussex Local Outbreak Plan and in the context of planning for the end of the Brexit 
Transition Period, by 31 October;   

 provide free PPE to care providers ineligible for the PPE portal (supplied by DHSC) when 
required (including for personal assistants) directly until March 2021;  

Page 37



CABINET 

 to work with local partners to carry out learning reviews after each care home outbreak to 
identify and share lessons learned;  

 to ensure care providers carry out testing as set out in the testing strategy and, together 
with NHS organisations, provide local support for testing in adult social care if needed;  

 for the Director of Public Health to regularly assess whether visiting care homes is 
appropriate, taking into account the wider risk environment and immediately moving to 
stop visiting if an area becomes an ‘area of intervention’, except in exceptional 
circumstances such as end of life; 

 to work alongside the CQC to ensure care homes are taking necessary steps to prevent 
spread of the virus and follow up with care providers that are not limiting staff movement; 
and  

 establish a weekly joint communication from the Director of Adult Social Care and Health 
and Director of Public Health to go to all local providers of adult social care. 

 
2.24 Government has also requested all councils complete a care market sustainability self-
assessment. This will be reported to the Minister of Care, through DHSC. The Minister is seeking 
assurance that care markets are sustainable though the winter period and where this cannot be 
provided the intention is to provide support to councils to address any identified challenges. 
 
2.25 Government has committed to continue to engage across the sector to understand needs 
as they develop throughout the winter and provide appropriate support. We will continue to 
engage and emphasise the need for a sustainable funding settlement for social care, that reflects 
the scale of investment made in the NHS, and the need to limit self-
assessment/assurance/Government reporting to free-up fundamental capacity to deliver.  
 
2.26   Government has provided a second £546m tranche of Infection Control Funding, to be 
distributed by councils to care providers, to support delivery of their plans. This is a new grant, 
with revised conditions from the original Infection Control Fund and additional reporting 
requirements. East Sussex's total allocation of this funding is £8.3m, 80% of which must be paid 
across to care homes and community providers in the East Sussex geographical area, including 
providers with whom the local authority does not have existing contracts. The funding will help 
providers with the extra costs of infection prevention and control measures, including payment of 
care workers who are self-isolating, restricting workforce movement and avoidance of the use of 
public transport. The remaining 20% can be spent on supporting care providers to take additional 
steps to tackle the risk of Covid-19 infections but can be allocated at the local authority’s 
discretion. £588m has also been provided for the NHS to support people needing additional 
follow-on care after they have been discharged from hospital. From 1 September 2020 to 31 
March 2021, the NHS will fund up to the first six weeks of support following hospital discharge, 
during which assessments will be carried out to determine ongoing care and funding 
arrangements. 
 
2.27 Many community based local care providers continue to operate with reduced capacity 
and many continue to deliver support in different ways due to social distancing requirements. For 
example, due to social distancing requirements, day service providers are not able to run at full 
capacity. Alternative support provided to day service clients has included regular telephone calls, 
zoom sessions, sending out resource packs, visiting clients in their gardens or supporting them on 
socially distanced walks. Some providers have now started to support clients with tasks in their 
home and to provide carer respite where this has been appropriate, until such time as they can 
support them in the day service again. 
  
2.28 Adult Social Care and the East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust continue to work in close 
partnership to support the timely discharge of patients from hospital into care homes.  Maintaining 
staffing levels whilst staff are self-isolating; supporting residents to self-isolate (especially 
residents with dementia); adhering to testing and infection, prevention and control requirements 
and facilitating safe visiting arrangements for families and carers, all continue to be challenges for 
care homes.   
 

Page 38



CABINET 

2.29 Adult Social Care and Health continue to support providers though the provision of up to 
date information and guidance through the regular e-bulletin which is circulated to around 1200 
recipients. In partnership with the East Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Adult Social 
Care and Public Health run weekly care home meetings, with provider representatives. These 
online meetings provide care homes with the opportunity to discuss current issues with health and 
social care partners, including GP and clinical leads. In addition, the weekly Incident Management 
Team meetings agree the health and social care system support and response required for care 
homes where Covid-19 outbreaks have occurred, or where other more general infection, 
prevention and control support is needed. 
  
2.30 The East Sussex Care Homes Resilience Plan, published in May 2020, has been 
reviewed and refreshed. It is being delivered by the East Sussex Care Homes Group which has 
representation from all key stakeholders including the East Sussex Registered Care Association 
and Healthwatch.  
 
Children’s Services 
 
Schools  
2.31 Pupils returned to schools and colleges at the start of September with education settings 
putting a ‘system of controls’ in place to keep students and staff safe, focused around minimising 
direct contact and maintaining social distancing wherever possible. The Council has been working 
with schools to implement the Government guidance. 
 
2.32 Since reopening, attendance figures for individual schools and settings have fluctuated 
week by week as parents and carers respond to the national public health picture. The average 
daily attendance as a percentage of registered pupils was as follows during September and the 
first half of October: 
 

w/c Monday 7 September 65.2% 

w/c Monday 14 September 76.8% 

w/c Monday 21 September 80.2% 

w/c Monday 28 September 79.8% 

w/c Monday 5 October 87.7% 

w/c Monday 12 October 89.5% 

 
In the first two weeks of term, schools phased the students return and attendance figures were 
also skewed by several INSET days across all schools and settings.  
 
2.33 Although looking at attendance data can give some information about how schools are 
coping in the current climate; the data can change so quickly that it is not as reliable as a school 
performance measure as in previous years. The data above comes from the Department for 
Education (DfE) but it is important to note that it is not verifiable as there are several schools who 
do not complete their returns on a daily basis. This data also does not consider the students who 
are marked as being in attendance, but who are self-isolating and accessing learning from home. 
ISEND will produce a much clearer, verified set of attendance data by early November. 
Throughout the academic year, reports on attendance will be produced monthly and will show the 
data for the preceding month. 
 
2.34 Education settings re-opened in places elsewhere in the country which were subject to 
local restrictions and Government has been clear that re-introduction of restrictions on education 
and childcare settings is to be considered only once all other possible measures have been taken. 
A tiered system of restrictions has been established to guide the phased introduction that would 
take place in circumstances where areas that are subject to national intervention require some 
level of restriction to education or childcare settings. Tier 1 restrictions apply to all areas subject to 
local intervention; all schools remain open but with a requirement for adults and pupils in settings 
educating years 7 and over to wear face coverings in communal areas where it is not possible to 
socially distance. Guidance has been provided to support settings to plan for how they would 

Page 39



CABINET 

implement tier 2 restrictions - moving to a rota model, combining on-site provision with remote 
education - if required. Tiers 3 and 4 involve further limiting students attending on site in different 
education settings. 
 
2.35 There has been an increased expectation on councils to support schools this year: with 
partial closure; with providing places for vulnerable children and children of keyworkers in 
lockdown; with provision of remote learning in lockdown; and recently with making preparations to 
re-open. In this new context, the focus of the Standards and Learning Effectiveness Service 
(SLES) for the 2020/21 academic year will be on:  

 Planning, preparation and support for schools in potential local lockdowns – see 2.34 
above; 

 Increased support for vulnerable pupils, including safeguarding, addressing learning loss 
and ensuring attendance;  

 Ongoing co-ordination of services for schools;  

 Managing the impact of Covid-19 on early years providers and ensuring that we maintain 
sufficient places for the future; and 

 Supporting young people into Education, Employment and Training during a period of 
rising unemployment and economic downturn that will disproportionately impact 18-24 
year olds.   

 
2.36 The Council provided advice and support to schools throughout the lockdown period and 
the summer holidays and this has continued as schools return for the new academic year. There 
have been some school and bubble closures across the county, but schools have felt confident in 
the steps to take as a result of good communication from the Council and the availability of 
members of the SLES team to talk directly to headteachers.  
 
2.37 The twice weekly Message Board has been updated regularly with the latest guidance 
regarding necessary actions to take when schools are informed of a confirmed or suspected case 
of Covid-19. Schools have also been provided, through the Message Board, with regularly 
updated model risk assessments and contingency plans which they have used to inform their own 
plans for reopening safely. The Council is keeping a record of which schools have had their risk 
assessments reviewed and approved by the governing body and is analysing any potential risk as 
a result. In schools where there are positive cases of Covid-19, the protocols are being followed 
and the Council has been informed of bubble or school closures. The Council is also working with 
Public Health England to identify and track cases in schools across East Sussex. 
 
2.38 Schools have contingency plans in place in the event of future local or national lockdowns, 
including plans for remote learning. Via the Message Board, headteachers receive DfE updates 
about remote learning expectations and support. Alongside this, the Council has provided 
research on the principles of remote learning and examples of practice from schools. This 
guidance document presents solutions for schools to consider when faced with pupil 
disengagement with remote learning, remote provision for pupils with SEND and pupils being 
unable to access technology. It also suggests ways to educate pupils when only a small number 
need to isolate and learn remotely. The term one primary and special school adviser visits include 
discussions about the schools’ contingency plans, risk assessments and remote learning plans. 
 
2.39 Schools across East Sussex are keen to continue with the schools’ partnership peer 
review system and, considering the new challenges that schools are facing this year, the usual 
model has been adapted and transformed into a rapid response model. Schools will continue their 
peer reviews but will shift focus to reviewing and supporting each other with issues arising from 
Covid-19. In partnership, schools will work together to look at: how the school is organised; how 
assessment is being used to ensure all needs are being met and gaps addressed; how mental 
health and wellbeing is being supported; how pupils are engaging with learning; and how to 
adopt, adapt or abandon practice from the lockdown period. 
 
2.40 The number of new Electively Home Educated (EHE) children has increased by 67% 
compared to this time last year (term one 2019/20 146 new cases, at the end of term one 2020/21 

Page 40



CABINET 

there were 244 new cases). This reflects reporting nationally about a likely increase in EHE 
requests following the Coronavirus lockdown. There are currently 1192 children (as at 20 October 
2020) being EHE in East Sussex. In recognition of the growth over time, which is not slowing, and 
the safeguarding risks associated with delayed screening of and visits to vulnerable EHE children, 
additional resources have been agreed to increase capacity in our dedicated EHE team. 
 
Home to School Transport 
 
2.41 In the summer, national guidance was published on transport provision to support the 
return of schools and colleges in September. This set out that, as capacity on public transport is 
limited, local authorities needed to put in place local demand management solutions for public 
services, and supplement the public bus network, and existing home to school transport, with 
additional capacity to ensure that children could travel to school safely, and disruption for all 
passengers on the public network was minimised. The Transport Team made arrangements to 
support school returns accordingly, including working with operators to ensure sufficient provision 
on the network of bus services used by school children travelling to schools in East Sussex and to 
other neighbouring authorities. 
  
2.42 The County Council has been allocated £0.8m by the DfE to assist in securing additional 
transport capacity until the end of the December school term. We are expecting future resource 
for January to March but this has not yet been confirmed.  
 
Early Years Sector (EYS) Providers 
 
2.43  Providers across the whole sector are working hard to sustain their businesses. The 
Council recognised this and has supported them since the country went into lockdown in March. 
The impact on demand for all providers has been dynamic. In the period March to August 2020 
the focus was on childcare provision for key workers’ children and those identified vulnerable 
children. In April East Sussex had only 40% of its early years provision open, reflecting the 
national trend. As the lockdown period began, and the economic impact began to be felt, it 
became apparent that the demand on all the early years funding entitlements, including for the 
least advantaged two-year olds, universal three and four year olds, and the 30 hours entitlement 
would change moving forward. Future demand for paid-for childcare, and/or the ability for families 
to access additional services and pay additional charges remain unknown.  
 
2.44 Since June, as the country came out of lockdown, early years providers that had closed 
due to Covid-19 began to re-open. The number of providers open steadily increased to over 90% 
by September. A range of action has been undertaken by Children’s Services since March to 
support both early years providers to remain sustainable, and families to ensure that vulnerable 
and key worker children had access to a childcare place if needed. This included: confirming that 
ESCC would continue to pay Early Years Education Entitlement (EYEE) grant to all providers that 
remained open or closed due to Covid-19 in the summer 2020 funding period; providing a 
brokering service to support families of vulnerable/keyworker children who need childcare 
provision; ensuring identified vulnerable children are supported in their childcare place; and 
providing regular and targeted communication, advice and information to early years providers. 
From September 2020, the Council will provide financial support to early years providers where 
the expected level of funding for two, three and four year olds is lower than expected and lower 
than their autumn 2019 return. This support also includes the deficit between 2020 and 2019 non-
funded hours accessed by children claiming the early years entitlement.  
 
Digital Devices for Disadvantaged Children to access Remote Education 
 
2.45 During the lockdown, the Council supported the allocation of 1,187 laptops and tablets to 
the most vulnerable Year 10 pupils, under a DfE scheme aimed at ensuring pupils could continue 
learning at home. East Sussex was the first local authority to order laptops and committed 
additional resources to address the gap between DfE allocations and targeted pupils in year 10 
requiring equipment to access online learning. Working in partnership with Uni Connect and 
Hastings Opportunity Area, further resource enabled us to order in excess of 200 additional Page 41



CABINET 

devices to support our most vulnerable learners. 
 
2.46 On 1 October the DfE announced extra resources to support delivery of remote education, 
including 100,000 additional devices and increased peer to peer support for teachers. The new 
support includes additional laptops to be made available for those children most in need, as well 
as expanding the EdTech Demonstrator programme to ensure schools and teachers can make 
best use of technology available to them to enhance the at-home learning given to their pupils. 
Individual school across East Sussex will order devices themselves based on their needs, 
supported by Schools ICT.  
 
Vulnerable Groups 
 
2.47 From 30 March to the end of July the Council set up a Vulnerable Children Risk 
Assessment Group (VCRAG) to monitor vulnerable pupils and support their access to learning 
and safety. For a final, high risk, cohort of pupils who did not return to school in September the 
process also ran from 7 September to 9 October.  Information was collated in relation to 
vulnerable groups and was linked to a core attendance recovery offer from Education Support, 
Behaviour and Attendance Service (ESBAS) for every primary, secondary and special school who 
submitted a return. As at 16 October 2020:  

 208 pupils have not yet returned;  

 of those, 94 are in at least one vulnerable category (45%); and 

 over the five week period, non-returners have decreased from 856 to 208. 
 
2.48 In the event of a local lockdown, or multiple local lockdowns at “Tiers of Restriction” 1 or 2 
a centralised VCRAG process will not be required.  Secondary schools and FE colleges will be 
required to remotely safeguard students who are not in school for the rota periods and where 
there are significant concerns these should be referred to the Single Point of Advice (SPOA) 
following regular procedures. In the event of a Tier 3 or 4 lockdown within any district in East 
Sussex, VCRAG processes will be initiated.  
 
2.49 Should there be a local or national lockdown that results in partial school closures, the 
Council’s focus in relation to children with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP)  will be on 
ensuring school attendance; that is the best way of securing high quality EHCP provision and 
ensuring children with EHCPs do not fall further behind following an extended period of disruption. 
The Council will follow the Government guidance that is issued at the time, which may have 
different recommendations and expectations. 
 
Children’s Social Care 
  
2.50 A suite of performance indicators is reviewed weekly to keep an overview of what is 
happening in terms of contacts with children’s services teams.   
 
Front Door contacts  
2.51 We saw an initial reduction in activity in the front door teams during lockdown. To ensure 
that children remained safe, the social work teams risk assessed all the vulnerable children on 
their caseloads and also worked with colleagues in schools and the SLES to maintain oversight of 
a larger group of children. Referrals from the Police to the social work teams were also at higher 
levels during the lockdown and referrals from schools were at much lower levels. With the return 
of schools in September, the number of contacts to the Single Point of Advice (SPOA) is now 
approaching pre-lockdown levels. From 6 January to 22 March the average was 246 per week. 
The average since the start of the Autumn term, as at 12 October, is 253. The number of contacts 
from schools is also approaching pre-lockdown levels. From 6 January to 22 March the average 
was 55 per week. In the four weeks up to 12 October the average number of contacts from 
schools was 46. Although referrals into the social work teams have remained broadly stable 
overall, proportions are being rebalanced as Police referrals decrease and referrals from schools 
increase once more. 
 

Page 42



CABINET 

Children on Child Protection (CP) Plans  
2.52 The number of children on a CP Plan continued to rise over the summer with an increase 
of 17% overall. The number of children on CP plans increased from 544 in the week commencing 
16 March to 637 at the end of September. This was in part due to CP plans not ceasing as it was 
difficult to end plans safely if children were not being seen regularly at school and some contact 
by social work staff was happening virtually. Targeted work is now underway to focus on a safe 
reduction in the number of plans now that more face to face visiting is taking place and more 
children are in school. As a result of this work the number of CP Plans as at 11 October had 
reduced to 599. 
 
Residential Units  
 
2.53 The five children’s homes and Lansdowne Secure Unit have remained open throughout, 
although residential respite support for disabled children had to be severely curtailed and the 
number of visitors to all the buildings strictly limited. The Lansdowne Secure Unit experienced a 
Covid outbreak at the start of lockdown with a number of staff and some children testing positive. 
This was managed via strict infection control measures and all of the homes have used personal 
protective equipment and additional hygiene measures to keep children and staff safe.    
 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
 
2.54 Emergency PPE provision via the Sussex Resilience Forum (SRF) ceased on 18 
September. The County Council has issued over 1.1 million items of SRF sourced stock to the 
local health and care system since April 2020. CQC registered providers are now able to access 
PPE through the Government’s PPE portal. Take-up of the Portal and availability of PPE within 
the sector continue to be monitored.  
 
2.55 The SRF holds emergency contingency stock for the whole of Sussex. Access to this 
stock and associated governance has been agreed with all partners. Additionally, the County 
Council has a limited amount of emergency SRF stock that is being held in case of issues with the 
Portal service.  
 
2.56 The County Council also now holds considerable PPE stock available to council services. 
Over 1 million items of our own stock have been issued to date. Joint procurement has been 
undertaken with partners and, where appropriate, County Council PPE can be procured by 
statutory partners. The availability of PPE has improved considerably since March and confidence 
exists that County Council procurement can meet future demand based on existing modelling.  
 
Shielded Cohort 
 
2.57 Supplementary to the Contain Framework, a Covid-19 Shielding Framework has been 
published to inform local authority planning to support Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) 
individuals in the event that shielding guidance is reintroduced on a local or national basis. Any 
decision to reintroduce shielding will be taken at a national level, and the framework sets out that 
in the event this happens councils will now be responsible for assessing the food and basic 
support needs of CEV individuals and facilitating delivery of that support. Funding to support 
councils in assessing and meeting these needs is anticipated but details are to be confirmed.  
 
2.58 Planning is underway for a potential shielding operation based on the guidance issued and 
discussion with Government. Food box provision will now be the responsibility of local authorities 
and be intended to be a last resort, with far more emphasis placed upon supermarket and local 
retailer delivery options and a local volunteer and community response than in the first lockdown.  
 
2.59 Additional temporary capacity is being recruited to Health and Social Care Connect 
(HSCC), along with commissioning external contact centre capacity should the need arise. A 
contract for food box provision has already been procured. During the lockdown from March to 
August a significant number of County Council staff were redeployed to the call centre and food 
box delivery. It is anticipated that any future lockdown will not result in the cessation of such a Page 43



CABINET 

wide range of Council services as previously and, as such, a different delivery model will be 
required, based far more on commissioning external expertise and capacity, rather than utilising 
redeployed staff.  
 
2.60 The County Council has signed up for the necessary data flows from the NHS, and a data 
management process has been developed and has been tested. Data will be provided to the 
County Council, along with each of the Districts and Boroughs, which was not the case previously. 
 
2.61 The Community Hubs in each District and Borough are still live and most have been 
absorbed into existing contact centre arrangements. Current call volumes are low, at around 20 
per week across East Sussex. Contingency plans for re-escalating the Community Hubs in the 
event of increased lockdown measures are in development.   
 
2.62 Working groups exist with voluntary and community sector and health partners and District 
and Borough Councils looking at the county’s preparedness with regard to shielding and the 
Community Hubs. Engagement remains strong and collaboration good. Concern as to a wider 
range of vulnerabilities experienced by residents relating to the wider impact of Covid-19 are 
relevant to the capacity of the Community Hubs. 
 
Trading Standards 
  
2.63 Both District and Borough Councils (via Environmental Health) and ESCC (via Trading 
Standards) have been designated by the Secretary of State to enforce emergency regulations 
regarding business premises closures and other restrictions within their areas. Trading Standards 
and Environmental Health across East and West Sussex have put in place protocols based upon 
premises type to avoid any unnecessary duplication of effort, together with having close liaison 
with Sussex Police who have an enforcement role with individuals. A single point of contact within 
each service has been established to ensure that wherever complaints are received they are 
quickly routed to the correct service without needing to re-signpost the person making the 
complaint. Most recently, this has seen complaints and enquiries relating to social distancing, 
taking and retaining contact information (for the NHS Test and Trace system), hospitality closure, 
large event management and wearing of face coverings. Legislation has also been introduced 
giving the County Council powers to issue Directions to stop events, close public areas and close 
specific premises if there is deemed a serious public health risk. This is a decision for the Director 
of Public Health (DPH) based on information and intelligence received. Trading Standards is 
assisting with this process.  
  
2.64 Since March 2020, Trading Standards has received over 550 enquiries relating to Covid-
19 and has dealt with each in line with the protocols outlined above. Most recently, the service 
has attended a large scale event to monitor and assist with Covid-19 controls and undertaken 
over 110 visits to close contact businesses such as hairdressers and barbers to check compliance 
with the latest Covid-19 requirements on contact tracing. 
 
2.65      Trading Standards has continued its existing investigations and animal health intervention 
work throughout lockdown, using remote contacts and interviewing as far as is possible. Despite 
some difficulties with the court system, there have been two successful prosecutions in relation to 
both an animal welfare matter and an illegal tobacco seizure. More recently, the service has 
restarted their food sampling and inspection work and has been actively engaged with 
Government, Port Health Authority and Newhaven Port concerning preparations for the end of the 
EU Exit transition period in December 2020. The service has inevitably needed to reprioritise work 
to ensure sufficient capacity for both business as usual and Covid-19 related work but has used 
the well tested weekly tasking process to allocate resources accordingly. 
 

Libraries 
 
2.66  Five libraries reopened in July and feedback from customers has been positive. The 
remaining 12 libraries reopened from 19 October. We have continued to offer browsing of stock 

Page 44



CABINET 

and computer sessions and have restored the Reservation Service for customers to reserve 
specific items from any library, alongside our new Select and Collect Service. We have resumed 
one to one computer support by volunteers and continue to support people to access digital 
services online and by phone. Use of online services remains very high; borrowing of eBooks has 
doubled since April. Family Learning and other adult learning courses are being delivered 
successfully online. We have launched new digital services including support for people 
participating in online job interviews.  
  
Household Waste Recycling Sites 
 
2.67 All of the Council’s waste disposal facilities for the disposal of black bag waste, dry 
recycling and garden waste have continued throughout the lockdown and the summer period.  
 
2.68 All of our Household Waste Recycling Sites are open and operating, albeit a few 
restrictions remain in place. The number of unloading bays at each site is still restricted to ensure 
safe distancing and trailers are still not permitted because of the time taken to manoeuvre and 
unload the larger volumes of waste. Vans and oversized vehicles are permitted entry on two days 
a week, and chargeable waste is now accepted. The sites are operating well and safely, and 
residents are appreciative of the staff operating the sites. The queues that were experienced 
when the sites reopened during lockdown have reduced and only occur at one or two sites during 
peak times. All of our sites switched to their winter opening times from 1 October.  
 
Highways and Transport 
 
2.69 Work has continued on highway maintenance and the Highways Service has continued to 
provide a near normal service, whilst maintaining safe distancing and ensuring the safety of the 
workforce and public. The roads patching programme has progressed as normal and two patching 
units have continued to work in the county throughout the summer, taking advantage of the 
quieter roads during lockdown. The surface dressing and resurfacing programmes have 
progressed to plan.   
 
2.70 Maintenance of the county’s public rights of way, bridges and structures has continued 
throughout lockdown and the summer period to plan. 
 
Parking Charges 
 
2.71 The new on-street pay and display parking tariffs and permit charges came into force on 1 
July, and at the same time enforcement on-street resumed following the lockdown. 
  
2.72 The County Council received Department for Transport and parliamentary approval of its 
Civil Parking Enforcement powers and civil parking enforcement commenced across Rother 
district on 29 September.  
 
 
Active travel programme  
 
2.73 Following the Secretary of State for Transport's announcement on 9 May that funding 
would be allocated to local authorities to implement temporary transport measures, a programme 
of potential schemes that could be implemented in the county was developed to encourage more 
walking and cycling, support safe social distancing and help restart the local economy as the 
Covid-19 restrictions are eased. In doing so, we engaged with our Borough and District Council 
colleagues as well as walking and cycling groups across the county for their thoughts and 
suggestions. The extent of the programme was always predicated on the amount of funding that 
indicatively would be made available to the County Council and assessing the impacts that any 
such measures would have on enabling safe social distancing and access to shops and 
businesses in our high streets, jobs, medical facilities and schools.  
 

Page 45



CABINET 

2.74 The Government instructed that the Emergency Active Travel Fund measures must be in 
place quickly, with the expectation that we would only consult with statutory stakeholders, such as 
emergency services. Despite this, and particularly in light of the potential economic impacts of 
some of the proposals on our high streets in particular, we felt it was important to get the views of 
those living and working in the area rather than impose a scheme upon them. Therefore, we 
undertook a variety of local consultations with local businesses and residents as well as 
stakeholders during the summer. Ultimately, this resulted in the decision to proceed with schemes 
in Bexhill and Hastings.  
 
2.75 We have also submitted a bid to Government for Tranche 2 of the Active Travel 
Programme which, if successful, will focus more on improving existing footways and cycleways in 
the county. We are awaiting announcement of the outcome of the bid. It is still expected that any 
measures will need to be implemented by the end of March 2021.  
 
Business Services 
 
2.76 Orbis continues to support staff to effectively deliver all services that we can remotely to 
reduce the risk of coronavirus spread. Across the Council we have seen improvements in 
productivity due to modernised processes and increased flexibility of working. Staff management 
and new service delivery practices are enabling staff to work in this increasingly flexible way. 
Opportunities to embed and expand digital technologies and processes that have enhanced 
service delivery and working processes in lockdown are being explored. There is some indication 
that the shift to increased remote working and economic uncertainty has increased applications to 
County Council job vacancies, including previously hard-to-recruit roles.  
 
2.77 In response to recent Government guidance around staff continuing to work from home 
where possible we are enhancing our wellbeing support for staff and guidance for managers and 
developing more targeted virtual training and interactive support sessions for our staff and 
managers to operate in the extended working from home environment. 
 
2.78 Through the SPACES partnership we are sharing approaches across the public sector 
partners on the management of workplaces and seeking opportunities for collaborative working. 
 
2.79 In response to the increased level of remote and digital working we have increased our 
focus and monitoring on cyber security and maintain strong and active engagement with the 
National Cyber Security Centre and our local warning advice and reporting group. 
 
Member Meetings  
 
2.80 Member meetings have continued to be held remotely via Microsoft Teams with 
arrangements continuing to be informed by feedback from the Member Reference Group. Training 
and guidance were provided to Members to support the transition from Skype to Teams in June, 
with additional communications to assist Members in making the most of the latest Teams 
features. A training session was provided in September specifically focused on chairing virtual 
meetings and additional guidance is provided to individual Chairs tailored to specific meeting 
arrangements. The public continues to be able to view meetings via our existing webcasting site. 
 
2.81 Scrutiny Committees undertook a review and reset of their work programmes in June/July 
and restarted formal meetings in September. Scrutiny Review and Reference Group work has 
continued where this can be supported by departments and/or be progressed by scrutiny 
independently. A full programme of scrutiny and other meetings will continue under the virtual 
arrangements whilst advice remains to avoid physical gatherings. 
 
Communicating with partners and residents  
 
2.82 We have built dedicated pages on our website and kept them updated to help businesses, 
residents and partners get the latest information on the position in East Sussex. These pages 
have been viewed more than 187,000 times. We have made extensive use of social media, video Page 46



CABINET 

and traditional media to keep people informed. This has included joint public videos with hospital 
doctors, nurses and GPs, and advertising targeted to parts of the county with rising infection 
rates. We have introduced email bulletins for residents, members, MPs, partners and staff.  We 
have conducted two surveys with residents (to get the views of more than 11,000 people) and are 
planning another. We work closely with District and Borough Councils to get information to 
residents, especially about community hubs.  Special efforts have been made to reach people 
from potentially marginalised groups, including people of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
background and those with severe existing health conditions. 
 
Financial Implications of Covid-19  
 
2.83 The quarter 1 monitoring report presented to Cabinet in October reflected the impact of 
Covid-19 pressures on services and the Council overall. Given current circumstances, finance 
reporting has been split into Planned Budgets/Business as Usual (non-Covid) and Covid related 
items. The non-Covid related total forecast an overspend of £1.1m on service budgets, details of 
which can be found in the quarter 1 monitoring report. The details of Covid related pressures in 
each department are also set out and estimate a total forecast overspend of £36.5m revenue and 
£1.8m capital. This was against known Covid funding of £29.7m received in Tranches 1 to 3 and 
set out in the table below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.84  The Council has submitted a bid to MHCLG for support for losses on sales, fees and 
charges. The bid covers the first four months of 2020/21 and totals £1.6m. The bid is subject to 
review, but when approved this could be extrapolated for the rest of the financial year to £4m.  
 
2.85 Beyond broader Covid-19 grant funding, we have received more specific support, and this 
has been fully allocated to service departments in line with the terms and conditions of the grant 
funding. These include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.86 On 12 October the Government announced a further £1bn (Tranche 4) allocation to local 
government. Although welcomed, the Council’s Tranche 4 allocation, at £3.1m, was lower than 
anticipated as a consequence of the rebasing of the total COVID-19 funding (Tranches 1-4) to 
reflect the COVID relative needs formula, which in effect removed the specific focuses of prior 
tranche allocations. We will now have to work to contain spend within a smaller envelope of 
funding, which will be a challenge. The total allocation of COVID-19 funding is now £32.8m.  
 
2.87 On 16 October the Government announced that Local Authorities will be eligible for a 
series of payments from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund to support proactive 

Tranche 1 £16.3m 

Tranche 2 £9.8m 

Tranche 3 £3.6m 

Total £29.7m 

Infection Control Grant Tranche 1 £10.7m 

Infection Control Grant Tranche 2 £8.3m 

Test & Trace Grant £2.5m 

Additional Dedicated Home to School and College 
Transport Funding  

£0.8m 

Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and Essential 
Supplies 

£0.6m 

Emergency Active Travel Fund Tranche 1 £0.5m 

Page 47



CABINET 

containment and intervention measures. Authorities will receive £8 per head if they are in tier 3, 
£3 if they are in tier 2, and £1 for tier 1. As East Sussex is at Tier 1 the Council will receive £1 per 
head.  
 
2.88 Services continue to work to further understand Covid-19 pressures in their areas. Work is 
also ongoing with our Districts and Boroughs to understand the impact of the loss of income they 
are experiencing with regard to Council Tax and Business Rates. As a precepting authority, 
ESCC will not bear the burden of this loss until it materialises through the Collection Fund. LG 
Futures has been commissioned by East Sussex authorities to provide a co-ordinated 
understanding of the impacts of Covid-19 and the economic downturn and refine current 
estimates. 
 
2.89 The updated Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2021/22 to 2023/24 presented to 
Cabinet in October is summarised in the table below. It assumes, for financial planning purposes, 
business as usual service provision from 1 April 2021; any ongoing Covid-19 cost pressures or 
income losses will be managed through the normal quarterly monitoring process. A number of 
funding scenarios were also presented. To what extent they will help reduce this gap will be 
unknown before the Local Government Provisional Settlement and/or the Spending Review; on 21 
October the Spending Review was confirmed as one year with an announcement planned for the 
25 November.   
 

Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total 

  £m £m £m £m 

Council 11 February 2020 
DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 

1.443 7.879 0.000 9.322 

Normal Updates (2.106) (1.441) 8.872 5.325 

Proposed Updates 9.895 (0.206) (0.477) 9.213 

Savings Reprofile 2.316 (1.074) (1.242) 0.000 

Deficit / (Surplus) AFTER 
UPDATES TO THE MTFP 

11.548 5.158 7.154 23.860 

 
2.90 As set out above, the projected deficit for 2021/22 is £11.5m with an aggregate deficit of 
£23.9m.  
  
Economy 
 
2.91 In April 2020 ESCC agreed to co-ordinate the development of an Economy Recovery Plan 
with partners to provide a clear focus for the economy recovery effort once the Government 
support schemes came to an end. The proposal was presented to Team East Sussex (TES), the 
county’s de-facto growth board, who were unanimous in their support for the plan. It is important 
to note that this is not a plan for the County Council, it is a plan for TES and partners to take 
forward. The plan intends to be complementary and supportive of other activities being 
progressed at a local level, including climate change and health and wellbeing initiatives.  
 
2.92 East Sussex Reset is an evolutionary document and is relatively short term. It has 
identified and will deliver interventions over the next 12-18 months that draw upon the various 
partners’ own recovery plans and pull everything into one place so that partners, businesses, 
residents and visitors can see the collective contributions being made towards resetting the 
economy of East Sussex.  
 
2.93 The development of the plan has involved consultation with key partners across the 
county, and it was endorsed by TES on 30 July, with the official launch of the plan on 9 
September. The plan will be presented to Cabinet at its 8 December meeting.   
 
 

Page 48



CABINET 

Recovery and next steps 
 
2.94 The ongoing impact of Covid-19 and recovery from it will not be linear or even across our 
services and communities. We are currently seeing a national increase in infections and are likely 
to see waves of infection in the future. The announcement of another national lockdown could 
have a significant impact on our residents, businesses and partners and we may need to make 
further adjustments to the way we work to comply with restrictions and deliver new support. We 
will need to continue responding flexibly, escalating and de-escalating our provision as needed in 
response to increased or decreased levels of emergency measures to control the virus. 
 
2.95 The emergency has necessitated new ways of working and has given rise to new 
partnerships and possibilities. These may offer opportunities to create a positive legacy for the 
future as we continue to develop our recovery plans alongside the response.  
 
2.96 We need to use our existing political and business planning processes to further develop 
our plans. Cabinet has already reviewed the Council’s priority and delivery outcomes and Core 
Offer in light of the new context and agreed changes to form the basis of planning for 2021/22 and 
beyond. Our financial planning has been updated to reflect what we know and can estimate about 
the impact of Covid, although there remains much uncertainty. 
 
2.97  This work will lead to a revised Council Plan and targets and MTFP for 2021/22 and 
beyond. Our integrated monitoring and risk processes provide a vehicle to allow us to continue to 
take a flexible approach to planning and delivery as we move through the pandemic and take 
account of broader changes in the context in which we are working: the impact of the pandemic 
on the national economy and our funding prospects; the changed needs of our residents and 
businesses and the impact of exiting the EU in 2021 on both the economy and our services.   
 
 
 
 

10 November 2020                 KEITH GLAZIER   
(Chair) 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

REPORT OF THE PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
___________________________________________________________________ 

The Place Scrutiny Committee met on 23 September 2020. 

Present: Councillors Bob Bowdler (Chair), John Barnes, Martin Clarke, Godfrey 
Daniel (Vice Chair), Chris Dowling, Nigel Enever, Darren Grover, Pat 
Rodohan, Stephen Shing, Andy Smith and Barry Taylor 

 
Also present: Councillors Nick Bennett (Lead Member for Resources), Claire Dowling 

(Lead Member for Transport and Environment), and Keith Glazier 
(Leader and Lead Member for Strategic Management and Economic 
Development).   

 

1. Scrutiny Review of Road Markings 
 

1.1 The Place Scrutiny Committee has completed its Scrutiny Review of Road 
Markings.   A copy of the Committee’s full report is attached at Appendix 1. 

1.2.    A Review Board was established in September 2019 and was comprised of 
Councillors Godfrey Daniel (Chair), Stephen Shing, and Barry Taylor. The review 
examined the maintenance and provision of road markings in the County and in 
particular the condition of road markings that are important for road safety. 

1.3 The scope of the review includes: 

 the types of road markings and how frequently they are renewed;  

 the specifications for road markings and how they are applied;  

 whether utility company reinstatement works are replacing road markings 
adequately; 

 the road markings the Parking Team is responsible for (e.g. double yellow 
lines, parking bays etc.); and 

 the role of the Road Safety Team regarding road markings.  

1.4 The Review heard evidence that road markings are one of the most cost 
effective ways of promoting road safety and are also important for the efficient flow of 
traffic on the County’s roads. Overall, the Review finds that the Council’s 
arrangements for the maintenance of road markings can deal with safety defects and 
the renewal of some road markings. However, under the current arrangements it has 
not been possible to keep up with the rate at which road markings are wearing out. 
The Review makes a number of recommendations which it is hoped will improve the 
maintenance of road markings. 

1.5 The Place Scrutiny Committee recommends to the County Council that – 

1.5.1 Officers continue to keep a watching brief on the development of new road 
marking materials and techniques and carry out trials to evaluate their effectiveness 
in reducing costs and increasing the durability of road markings. 

1.5.2 The requirement to inspect road markings as part of routine inspections, and 
the categories of road markings important for road safety, are included in regular 
reminders to Highway Stewards and customer service staff. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

1.5.3 The responsibilities of the utility companies and Highways England regarding 
road markings are made clear in the information provided on the East Sussex 
Highways web site. 

1.5.4 When considering the allocation of resources for highway maintenance and 
road transport schemes, increased priority is given to funding for road markings to 
reflect their contribution to road safety. 

1.5.5 The parking budget is recharged for all parking enforcement road marking 
renewal work with immediate effect, and the money used for additional highway road 
marking maintenance work. 

1.5.6 Should any new Government funding become available for highway 
maintenance consideration is given to using a portion of it to improve the condition of 
road markings in the County (if allowed by the conditions attached to the funding). 

1.5.7 Priority is given to renewing road markings that are important for road safety, 
such as those listed in paragraph 19 of the report, when determining the use of the 
additional one-off funding in 2020/21. 

1.5.8 Consideration is given to including the funding to improve and maintain road 
marking in the base budget for the core services in the Highways Infrastructure 
Maintenance contract from 2023 onwards when it is re-procured. 

 

 [See also Report of the Cabinet – 10 November 2020]  

 

  

 

23 September 2020       BOB BOWDLER 

Chair 

 

 

    
  

Page 52



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

   

REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
The Governance Committee met on 28 October and 10 November 2020. Attendances: 
 
Councillor Glazier (Chair) (2) 
Councillors Bennett (2), Godfrey Daniel (2), Simmons (2) and Tutt (2) 
 
 

1. Local Government Pension Scheme – Employer Discretions  
 

1.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) regulations require all participating 
Scheme Employers to formulate, publish and keep under review, a statement of policy in 
relation to how they will exercise the mandatory and non-mandatory discretionary functions.  
 
1.2 The Administering Authority of the East Sussex LGPS recently contacted all Scheme 
Employers requesting that they update these employer discretions and provide a copy of 
their policy to them. In undertaking this exercise for East Sussex County Council, advice has 
been sought from Hymans, the Pension Fund Actuaries, which has been duly incorporated 
into the proposed updated policy.     

 
Proposed Employer Discretions  
 
1.3 The County Council has previously received reports to determine the County 
Council’s policy in relation to our employer discretions. Most of these have been in place and 
operated successfully for a number of years. As part of this latest exercise however, the 
opportunity has been taken to update the full set of employer discretions as set out in 
Appendix 1, which is a summary of the discretions and proposed updated policy.   
 
1.4 The significant majority of the discretions concern the technical application of the 
pension scheme regulations. Given this, appropriate technical knowledge is required in order 
to make a determination about whether to exercise a discretion. At the same time, it is also 
important to ensure that an appropriate segregation of duties exists between the exercising 
of this technical knowledge and the more broader, general management of people. 
Accordingly, in updating the policy, it is proposed that the Council’s existing business case 
process applies. This process is well established and requires any decision relating to the 
provision of a benefit(s) to either a current, or previous employee, that incurs a cost must be 
authorised by the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Human Resources and 
Organisation Development, in consultation with the relevant departmental Chief Officer or 
school Headteacher. Where any payment exceeding £50,000 is proposed, the agreement of 
the Chief Executive must also be obtained.         

 
1.5 This business case process has served the Council well, ensuring that any such 
decisions are robustly considered including the undertaking of an appropriate cost/benefit 
analysis, an assessment of the specific circumstances involved and the potential for 
establishing any future precedent. Accordingly, the proposed updated policy for any 
discretions that give rise to a financial cost incorporate this process.  

 
1.6 In terms of volumes, it is worth noting that requests for consideration under these 
discretions are rare and in the last 12 months, less than five have been received.    

 

1.7 The Committee recommends the County Council to: 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

 1)  approve the updated policy for employer discretions under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme as set out in Appendix 1. 

 
2. Amendment to Constitution – Scheme of Delegations to Officers  

 
2.1  Local authorities have a specific and distinct range of legal powers under public 
health, environmental health and health and safety laws which allow them to temporarily 
close individual settings for a specific reason and period.  These powers apply under a 
patchwork of triggers or, in some cases, require an application to a magistrate.  
 
2.2 Government considered that these powers were insufficient to enable local 
authorities to fully implement the measures potentially needed to prevent, protect against, 
delay or otherwise control the incidence or spread of coronavirus in their area. New 
legislation ensures that a uniform suite of powers exists to enable local decision-makers to 
promptly take action to mitigate local Covid-19 outbreaks through a new and consistent set 
of regulations.   
 
2.3  The Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) Regulations 
2020 (“the No. 3 Regulations”) form part of that suite of powers and make specific provision 
for a County Councils and London Borough Councils to give Directions relating to premises, 
events and public outdoor places in its area. The No. 3 Regulations include powers for the 
County Council to make a Direction to: 

 restrict access to, or close, individual premises (which could include a pub, restaurant, 
shop, factory etc.)  

 prohibit a specified event or events of a specified description from taking place (events 
could include garden shows, festivals, marathons, hospitality attractions, fairgrounds etc.) 

 restrict access to, or close, a specific public outdoor place in its’ area or public outdoor 
places in its’ area of a specified description (which could include parks, public toilets, 
stadiums etc.) 

  
2.4  Anyone can request the County Council to make a Direction. It is likely to be the 
District or Borough Council’s Licensing or Environmental Health Officer, the County Council’s 
Trading Standards/Highways Officer, a Safety Advisory Group Chair, a Councillor/MP or the 
Police. Partner organisations will be encouraged to submit their request at the earliest 
opportunity so as to allow reasonable advance notice to those concerned that a Direction is 
being considered. 
 
2.5  Once the request has been formally received a County Council must be satisfied and 
have evidence that all of the following three conditions are met: 
 

The Direction responds to a serious and 
imminent threat to public health  

Threats could include localised transmission 
rate/s or rising local / national alert levels, the 
possibility of attracting people from areas with 
a higher prevalence of COVID and/or 
unsustainable pressures to the health system. 

The Direction is necessary to prevent, protect 
against, control or provide a public health 
response to the incidence or spread of 
infection of coronavirus in the local authority’s 
area 

Consideration would need to be given to 
factors that would cause the spread of 
infection.  

The prohibitions, requirements or restrictions Consideration would need to be given as to 

Page 54



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

imposed by the Direction are a proportionate 
means of achieving that purpose 

whether all alternatives to mitigate risks have 
been exhausted. 

 
2.6  Issuing a Direction is an action of last resort and all other methods to ensure risks 
are fully mitigated should be explored. However, if these conditions have been met and the 
County Council has decided to make a Direction it must: 

 consult with the Director of Public Health and although it is not in the legislation, it may 
be usually be appropriate to consult the Police if the Direction prohibits, requires or 
restricts access to premises, an event or public outdoor place); 

 have due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (s.149 of the Equality Act 2010) and 
consider carrying out an equalities impact assessment to determine whether the 
measure may disproportionately affect people with protected characteristics. Identifying 
disproportionate impact would not prohibit a local authority from taking action, but this 
should be balanced against the wider public health risk in the area, and mitigations 
should be considered and implemented wherever possible; 

 have regard to the need to ensure the public has access to essential public services; and 

 be clear about why they are taking directive action and communicate this clearly to the 
Secretary of State, the persons to whom the Direction applies (i.e. to a person carrying 
on a business from premises within a public outdoor place to which the direction relates 
and any person who owns, occupies or is responsible for any land or premises in a public 
outdoor place to which the direction relates) and, where appropriate, those impacted by 
the Direction. 

 
2.7  Once the decision has been made to issue a Direction, it will be served by Trading 
Standards on the event organiser / business or premises owner with details of the right of 
appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. A copy of the Direction will be provided to the Secretary of 
State together with the reasons for that decision.  
 
2.8  Trading Standards will monitor compliance. Contravention of a Direction is a criminal 
offence and non-compliance may result in either a Fixed Penalty Notice or Police 
enforcement. 
 
2.9 The Direction must be reviewed every seven days. The County Council will have 
responsibility for deciding whether the Direction should remain in place or whether any 
modifications are necessary. This will involve reassessing local risk using updated data 
sources that provided the initial evidence, any new information, consulting with relevant 
stakeholders as necessary, and using professional judgement.   
 
2.10 It is proposed to authorise the Director of Public Health, the Chief Executive and the 
Assistant Chief Executive to make a Direction (and review that Direction every seven days) 
in accordance with the No.3 Regulations and/or any updating legislation.  This will aid in the 
ability for decisions to be taken in an efficient and timely manner, which is considered 
particularly important where deadlines need to be met for certain actions to be undertaken. 
 

2.11  The Governance Committee recommends the County Council to: 

           1)  delegate the functions as set out in paragraph 2.10 and to agree to the  Scheme 
of Delegation to Officers being amended accordingly 
 
 
3. Amendment to Constitution – Officer delegations – Adult Social Care  
 

Page 55



GOVERNANCE 
 

  

3.1 The Governance Committee agreed on 28 October 2020 to the establishment of a 
new post of Executive Director – Adult Social Care and Health to work across East and West 
Sussex.  The current holder of the post of East Sussex County Council Director of Adult 
Social Care and Health has been confirmed as the Executive Director.   
 
3.2 Under the Social Services Act 1970 a local authority is required to appoint a statutory 
chief officer with responsibility for delivering local authority social services functions in 
respect of adults. Specific responsibilities of this statutory role include: 
 

 Accountability for assessing local needs and ensuring availability and delivery of 
a full range of adult social services; 

 Professional leadership, including workforce planning; 

 Leading the implementation of standards; 

 Managing cultural change; 

 Promoting local access and ownership and driving partnership working; 

 Delivering an integrated whole system approach to supporting communities; and 

 Promoting social inclusion and wellbeing.     
 
3.3 Given the scale and balance of the proportion of time to be spent across the two 
Councils, it will not be possible for the Executive Director role to undertake the statutory 
functions identified above in East Sussex County Council.  
 
3.4 The post of Director of Adult Social Care and Health is maintained within the existing 
staffing structures, but will be renamed as Director of Adult Social Care.  The post holder will 
be the statutory chief officer referred to above.  The post will represent the Department on 
the Corporate Management Team. This enables both the statutory functions to be 
undertaken as well as ensuring there is no detriment to the delivery of adult services to the 
residents of East Sussex. The Constitution sets out the current staffing structure and so it is 
recommended that this be amended to reflect the changes. 
 
 
3.5 As a consequence, the current delegation of functions to the Director of Adult Social 
Care and Health have been reviewed   A proposal for the amended delegated functions is 
set out in Appendix 2 and has been agreed by the Governance Committee.  
 
3.6   Alongside delegations to specific Chief Officers, the Constitution sets out a number of 
delegations to Chief Officers and Directors more generally.  These are predominantly set out 
in the Scheme of Delegations to Officers, the Financial Procedure Rules and the 
Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules.  The Committee has agreed and recommended 
that the posts of Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Health and Director of Adult 
Social Care be considered Chief Officers and Directors for the purpose of the delegations to 
officers and be delegated authority accordingly.  
 

 3.7  The Governance Committee recommends the County Council: 

           1)  to amend the Officer Scheme of Delegations as set out in Appendix 2;   

 2) that the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health and Director of Adult 
Social Care be considered Chief Officers and Directors for the purpose of delegations to 
officers and be delegated authority accordingly; and   

    3) to agree to the Constitution being amended in light of the above and to reflect the 
new structure 
 
 10 November 2020       KEITH GLAZIER 
        (Chair) 

Page 56



LEAD MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL 
CARE AND HEALTH 

 

 
The Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health met on 2 November 2020.  Attendances:- 
 
 Councillor Maynard (Lead Member)   
  
 Councillors Davies, Tutt and Ungar  
 

1. Notice of Motion calling on Her Majesty’s Government to publish its White Paper on 
the reform and future of Adult Social Care 

1.1. The following Notice of Motion has been submitted to the Chairman of the County Council 
by Councillors Ungar and Tutt:  

 East Sussex County Council calls on Her Majesty’s Government to publish its White 
Paper on the reform and future of Adult Social Care. 

In drawing together its White Paper the government must take into account the already 
close working between this council and the NHS. 

We welcome an opportunity of closer working with the NHS but future plans should not 
only ensure world class services for the people of East Sussex but also those services should 
continue to be under the control of democratically elected local councillors. This is to ensure local 
accountability and control by the community. This is the best way of delivering services as local 
people know what they need and what they want. 

1.2. In line with County Council practice, the matter was referred by the Chairman to the Lead 
Member for Adult Social Care and Health for consideration to provide information and inform 
debate on the Motion.  

1.3. At the time of writing, there is no published central government timeframe for Social Care 
reform.  Given the onset of the Covid-19 crisis, on 15 September 2020, Lord Bethell, 
parliamentary undersecretary of state at the Department of Health and Social Care, stated that a 
social care plan could not be committed to before the end of this year.  

1.4. The Care Act 2014 was the first overhaul of social care statute in England for more than 
60 years. The Government initially delayed implementation of Part Two of the Care Act, funding 
reforms, until April 2020 to allow Local Authorities to have more time to introduce and embed Part 
One of the Care Act.  

1.5. Published in January 2019, the NHS Long Term Plan recognised that the NHS in England 
needs to provide more co-ordinated and personalised care. To promote health and wellbeing, and 
break down barriers between health and social care, the NHS will also need to work closely with 
local government.  Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) are the latest in a series of NHS initiatives to 
develop integrated care in England.  In East Sussex, health and social care partners are working 
together to deliver the ambition set out in the NHS Long Term Plan, including the ongoing 
development and delivery of integrated care and support.  

1.6. Covid-19 is the biggest challenge the health and care system has faced in living memory. 
It is essential that lessons are learned from this experience.  There is now not only an imperative 
to restore service provision while remaining prepared for future waves of the virus, but to build on 
this learning to bring about positive change so that the health and care system can support 
improvements in health and wellbeing for their local populations, well beyond this crisis.   

1.7. The experience, both nationally and locally, of implementing the Care Act reforms 
underlines the need to approach system-wide change with caution.   Such change consumes 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



LEAD MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 

significant time and resource, diverting staff and leaders away from other priorities. It can be 
argued that the health and social care system, especially providers of care and support services, 
can ill afford such upheaval given the pressure it is currently under.  

1.8. There is also the risk that if the case for change lands in the midst of a crisis, the lens by 
which solutions are assessed could be through a health care crisis, given the current focus on 
protecting the NHS. In consequence a new social care system fit may be developed for a crisis 
but not be fit for purpose in the longer term. 
 

1.9. Although there is not currently a published timescale for a Social Care reform, the future of 
Social Care is actively being considered by several national organisations, including the impact of 
Covid19 on the sector.  

1.10. In July 2020, the Local Government Association, together with 32 other organisations, 
published seven key principles which they believe must underpin reform of social care and 
support, considering the many lessons learned from the pandemic. The seven principles are listed 
below and cover several points raised in the Notice of Motion, which is particularly evident in 
Principle 2:  The importance of ‘local’. 

1.11. The principles are: 

 

1. People first and the value of social care  

2. The importance of ‘local’ 

Councils’ democratic accountability and leadership supports effective partnership working 
at the local level and the Government should follow this lead by working with local 
government and its many partners as equals in helping to build resilient communities that 
are geared towards prevention, wellbeing and public health. 

3. Funding  

4. Workforce 

5. Providers and commissioning  

6. Health and integration 

7. Care and support reform 

 

1.12. The full report can be found at: https://local.gov.uk/adult-social-care-seven-principles-
reform 

1.13. The Kings Fund has produced a number of papers relating to Covid-19 and the impact of 
the care sector.  Prior to the pandemic, the 2018 Kings Fund published the report: ‘A fork in the 
road: Next steps for social care funding reform. The costs of social care funding options, public 
attitudes to them – and the implications for policy reform’. The report considers various options for 
social care funding reform which have been debated in recent years and offers a clear summary 
of all the key options: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/A-fork-in-the-road-
next-steps-for-social-care-funding-reform-May-2018.pdf 

1.14. There is consensus that long term, sustainable reform is required for the Social Care 
sector, however the timing of such reform is a critical consideration.  Such reform will require 
considerable consultation and engagement with the public and all key stakeholders at a time 
when the social care sector is facing another round of winter pressures on top of the continuing 
challenges of the Covd-19 pandemic.   

1.15. Given the context that the health and social care system is currently operating within, the 
Lead Member recommends to County Council not to support the Notice of motion that ‘East 
Sussex County Council calls on Her Majesty’s Government to publish its White Paper on the 
reform and future of Adult Social Care’. 

Page 58

https://local.gov.uk/adult-social-care-seven-principles-reform
https://local.gov.uk/adult-social-care-seven-principles-reform
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/A-fork-in-the-road-next-steps-for-social-care-funding-reform-May-2018.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-05/A-fork-in-the-road-next-steps-for-social-care-funding-reform-May-2018.pdf


LEAD MEMBER FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 

1.16. The Lead Member instead recommends County Council supports the ongoing lobbying 
and engagement with central government about financial, and other support, for social care 
throughout the Covid-19 crisis, prior to longer term reform being proposed.  

1.17. The Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health recommends to the County Council to: 

  1) note the consideration given to the call for the Government to publish its White Paper 
on the reform and future of Adult Social Care and reject the Motion for the reasons set out 
in the report; and 

2) support the ongoing lobbying and engagement with central government about financial, 
and other support, for social care throughout the Covid-19 crisis 

 
 

2 November 2020 COUNCILLOR CARL MAYNARD                                                                                     
(Lead Member) 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
Report of a virtual meeting of the East Sussex Fire Authority held at 10:30 hours on 
Thursday, 3 September 2020. 
 
Present: Councillors Galley (Chairman), Lambert (Vice-Chair), Barnes, Dowling, Evans, 
Grimshaw, O'Keeffe, Osborne, Peltzer Dunn, Powell, Pragnell, Scott, Sheppard, Smith, 
Taylor, Theobald, Tutt and West 
 
N.B. Apologies were received from Councillor Hamilton 
 
The agenda and non-confidential reports can be read on the East Sussex Fire & Rescue 
Service’s website at http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-
meetings/  A brief synopsis and the decisions relating to key items is set out below. 
 
1 URGENT ITEMS AND CHAIRMAN’S BUSINESS  
  
3.1 The Chairman informed the Authority that Mark Andrews, Assistant Chief Fire 

Officer would be leaving East Sussex Fire & Rescue Service to take up the position 
as Deputy at West Sussex.  The Fire Authority congratulated Mr Andrews on his 
well-deserved appointment and thanked him for his dedicated service. 

  
2 2019/20 ANNUAL PERFORMANCE OUTCOME REPORT 

  
2.1 The Fire Authority considered a report providing details of East Sussex Fire Rescue 

Service’s performance for the period April – March 2019/20.  Fourteen top level 
indicators had improved or met the target set in 2019/20 (70%) and six indicators 
declined.  Key points, linked to the Service’s priority performance areas, included 
the reduction in accidental dwelling fires, in 2019/20 ESFRS had recorded the 
lowest number of these incidents ever at 453, this was an 11% reduction on the 
previous year.  Another key point related to a decline in performance regarding 
overall sickness absence rates, there had been a slight increase in sickness 
absences, particularly relating to long-term sickness.  Members were informed that 
at the end of 2019/20 the number of inspections of high risk premises and business 
safety audits had increased by 28%. 

  
2.2 In response to comments on figures relating to the inspections of high risk premises 

the ACFO confirmed that the report demonstrated some positive figures in this area.  
In terms of ESFRS’ preparedness the Service continues to have positive 
performance when compared to other comparable Fire & Rescue Services in terms 
of attendance times and confinement of fires to the room of origin.  ESFRS would 
continue to prioritise quality over quantity with regards to its home safety visits, the 
Service was attending more complex cases and these required additional 
personnel to ensure that we were giving our residents the best quality service.  
Members passed on their thanks to staff for the number and quality of visits being 
carried out and their appreciation for how these had been adapted during the 
COVID-19 restrictions. 

  

Page 61

Agenda Item 10

http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-meetings/
http://www.esfrs.org/about-us/east-sussex-fire-authority/fire-authority-meetings/


EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

2.3 The Authority considered and noted the performance results and progress towards 
achieving the Service’s purpose and commitments; and the performance results 
and remedial actions that have been taken to address areas of under performance 
in the Fire Authority’s priority areas.   

  
3 IT STRATEGY 2020-2025 
  
3.1 The Fire Authority considered the proposed IT Strategy 2020-2025 and associated 

funding requirements.  The Strategy built on significant progress that had been 
made since the decision to outsource IT Services to telent in November 2016 and 
embark on a transformation programme of the core IT infrastructure and 
applications.  The IT Strategy deliverables had been developed in support of and 
aligned with the Corporate Plan.  The deliverables also took into consideration the 
Integrated Risk Management Plan, Operational Response Review and the findings 
of the HMICFRS 2019 inspection report.  The Authority were informed that in June 
2020 SLT had agreed the priorities for agreed IT Strategy funding as being: 
 

 Mobilising Strategy Project 21 

 CRM 

 Firewatch 

 Performance Management 

 Electronic Document Management System (EDRMS) 

 IT Infrastructure Projects / Office 365 

 Information Security 
  
3.2 The Lead Member for IT thanked officers for their significant work on this strategy 

and commended the paper to Members.  There had been a lot of work on improving 
the IT provision already and this paper took the proposed changes to a new level.  
Successes so far included the imminent move to Office 365, improvements to IT 
security, and the changes to working practices that had to be brought in at speed 
as a result of COVID-19.  Members thanked the Lead Member for his comments 
as it was a very technical paper and his reassurance was valuable given his 
experience in the IT sector.  

  
3.3 Some concerns were raised about the carbon cost of IT, whilst keen on the 

possibilities of IT reducing travel, there was also hidden carbon costs in IT 
provision.  There were also some questions about whether the outsourcing of IT 
had represented value for money.  It was confirmed that the Strategy document 
dealt with sustainability, but that ESFRS doesn’t currently measure its IT carbon 
footprint.  Officers would take away these comments and work with telent to look at 
this in more detail.  The Authority were advised that it could be expected that the 
COVID-19 induced IT cultural change would to a significant degree be permanent 
and there were already associated financial savings being made e.g. in reduced 
travel and subsistence costs. 

  

Page 62



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

3.4 The Fire Authority agreed to approve the IT Strategy 2020-2025 and the use of 
existing funding of £7.79m, including the use of the previously Fire Authority 
approved P21 ESFRS IT integration funding £2.26m.  Total approved funding being 
£10.05m.  The Authority noted that further funding would need to be identified 
through delivering financial efficiencies and the budget setting process in order to 
resolve the combined one off and ongoing cost pressure of £2.25m (excluding CRM 
HSV & Business Safety) or £3.53m (including CRM HSV & Business Safety).  
Additionally, the Authority noted costed proposals for the development of CRM HSV 
and Business Safety are due to be presented to SLT in October 2020, that regular 
reports on the delivery of the IT Strategy would be presented to SLT and the 
Scrutiny & Audit Panel and that business owners should now develop business 
cases, defining the business benefits, costs and efficiency savings for the projects 
included in the Strategy. 

  
4 REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET 2020/21 AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 

TO 2024/25 MONITORING AT MONTH 4 
  
4.1 The Fire Authority noted a report providing Members the findings of the month 4 

monitoring undertaken on the Revenue and Capital Budget 2020/21.  This was the 
first report to Fire Authority for the 2020/21 financial year and highlights the findings 
from the Month 4 monitoring undertaken on the Revenue Budget 2020/21 and 5 
year Capital Programme, approved by the Authority in February 2020.   

  
5 2021/22 TO 2024/25 STRATEGIC SERVICE PLANNING AND MEDIUM TERM 

FINANCIAL PLAN 
  
5.1 The Fire Authority considered a report setting out to roll forward the Fire Authority’s 

medium term service planning strategy and medium term financial plan for 2021/22 
to 2024/25.  Financial planning was particularly difficult this year and had been made 
worse by COVID-19.  The Government had commenced a comprehensive spending 
review (CSR) covering a 3 year period from 2021/22.  The fire sector had made a 
strong submission to this, but an outcome was unlikely until later in the autumn with 
a provisional settlement in December, planning therefore was very difficult.  

  
5.2 COVID-19 was having a significant impact on both Council Tax and Business Rates, 

not only in terms of collection, but also base growth.  The report built on the existing 
Medium Term Finance Plan (MTFP) mid-case scenario and updated the 
assumptions that underpinned it where possible, highlighting emerging pressures 
and potential risks.  The revised MTFP indicated a revised funding gap of £1.659m 
in 2021/22 rising to £2.967m in 2024/25.  The Authority also needed to plan for a 
scenario where the current one off pensions grant does not continue into 2021/22.  
This would add a further £1.735m to the savings required in each year.  

  

5.3 Members agreed the current financial climate was creating probably the most 
uncertain future that the Fire Authority had faced.  They felt it very important that the 
Local Government Association and National Fire Chiefs Council be urged to continue 
to work with government to sort out the funding of pensions, it was not possible for 
fire authorities to carry on working on the basis of one off funding when it equated to 
such a large percentage of our spending capacity.  

  

Page 63



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

5.4 Members were worried by the implications of the business rates and council tax 
system, as it is likely Covid-19 will have a dramatic impact on collection rates.  It was 
felt important that Fire Authorities needed to raise the issue of business rates with 
the Home Office, specifically whether they should be collected locally or centrally and 
especially the implications of essential services being funded by grants.  Members 
felt that the current uncertainty made financial planning very difficult.  There was 
some suggestion that reserves could be drawn down and that some consideration 
be given to raising Council Tax again next year.  

  
5.5 The Fire Authority thanked Officers for their hard work during very difficult times.  

There was some concerns that previous correspondence with MPs and funding 
reviews did not seem to be producing any results.  There had been some claims by 
some local MPs that additional funding might be available and the Chairman 
proposed an additional recommendation regarding writing to MPs to lobby them on 
this matter.  This recommendation was seconded by the Vice Chairman and agreed 
by the Authority.  

  
5.6 The Fire Authority agreed to approve the updated Medium Term Financial Plan for 

2021/22 to 2024/25 and its underlying assumptions; also the risks set out in section 
4.6 of the report.  The Authority considered their preferences for Council Tax, should 
the Government set the referendum threshold higher than the 2% currently included 
in the MTFP; and that given the ongoing uncertainty about the future core funding of 
the service the Chairman of the Fire Authority will again write to all local MPs to 
request their support in lobbying for additional and sustainable funding for 2021/22 
and use the opportunity of the planned autumn MPs briefing to expand on the issues 
further. 

  

6 DRAFT INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (IRMP) 2020-2025 
'PLANNING FOR A SAFER FUTURE' - CONSULTATION RESULTS AND 
MODIFIED PROPOSALS 

  
6.1 The Fire Authority considered a report presenting the results of the public 

consultation on the proposals laid out in the Fire Authority’s draft Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) 2020-2025.  The first part of the report presented the 
views of staff, stakeholders and communities.  The second presented a modified 
set of proposals based on the feedback from the consultation exercise and 
engagement with staff and representative bodies.  The report sought the agreement 
of the Fire Authority on the revised proposals in order to allow a final IRMP, covering 
the period 2020-2025 to be published.  

  
6.2 The Fire Authority were reminded they had a statutory duty to have an IRMP and 

that the existing one expired this year.  Formal public consultation on the Fire 
Authority’s draft Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 2020-2025 ‘Planning for 
a Safer Future’ commenced on 24 April 2020, having been agreed by the Fire 
Authority on 23 April 2020, and ran for an 8-week period.  The views expressed 
throughout the consultation were subjected to thorough analysis and used to further 
shape the development of the modified proposals presented to this meeting. 

  

Page 64



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

6.3 The Fire Authority were reassured that the public consultation process had been 
extremely comprehensive with valuable contributions received from partners, 
members of the public, and other organisations.  In addition, significant feedback 
had been received from staff and representative bodies.  In parallel to the public 
consultation, senior officers engaged in meaningful and constructive dialogue with 
staff representative groups and trade unions, specifically with senior officials of the 
Fire Brigades Union (FBU). 

  
6.4 The final proposals for change contained within in the report included:  

 

 Operational Resilience Plan; 

 Changes to duty systems and staffing across day crewed stations; 

 Improving the efficiency and effectiveness of the operational fleet; 

 Changing the way stations in Hastings were crewed, and introducing an 
additional fire appliance at Bohemia Road; 

 Aerial appliances and other specialist capabilities; managing demand; and 

 The introduction of group crewing across the three City stations.  
  
6.5 The updated set of proposals delivered the original objectives and outcomes by 

better matching resources to risk.  The revised IRMP provided more prevention and 
protection activity, and better operational coverage across the service and 
particularly in Hastings.  The Fire Authority were reassured that the plan enabled 
improvements to our overall effectiveness and efficiency including better availability 
and increased resilience at core on-call stations.  The plan also supported delivery 
of the HMICFRS improvement areas and the Fire Authority’s purpose and 
commitments. 

  
6.6 Members thanked all officers, representative bodies and other interested parties for 

their exceptionally hard work and responses to the consultation.  It was agreed that 
whilst some Members had originally very strong doubts regarding the timing of the 
consultation process, everyone involved did their utmost to ensure it was a success.  
Members were particularly impressed at the scale of the public response to the 
consultation which had been the largest of any previously undertaken by the 
Service.  There were still some concerns amongst Members about particular details 
within the proposals and that there would be challenges with implementation, but 
there was a consensus that the Authority was very aware of its statutory duty to 
have in place an IRMP and felt that this amended set of proposals was a 
considerable improvement.   

  

Page 65



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

6.7 The Green Group proposed an amendment to two of the recommendations within 
the report, proposed by Cllr Powell and seconded by Cllr West.  The amendment 
(Amendment 1) updated recommendations f (2) and (3) to read as follows: 
 

2. The Service will continue its attendance at lift releases. Confinement in 
a lift is traumatic for anyone, but even more so for those with a disability 
or a severe health condition, those who are elderly, or for those with 
young children.  A swift response by the ESFRS is the right one, given 
the training of the firefighters and the equipment that they have to hand.  
This service should continue. 

 
3. The Service will continue to attend calls to birds trapped in netting.  If 

birds are not rescued by the ESFRS, then there is the potential for 
greater risk to members of the public in attempting to rescue trapped or 
dying birds themselves.  It also places the burden back onto animal 
charities who are suffering huge financial consequences because of the 
pandemic.  It is also a humanitarian gesture, and this service should 
continue.   

  
6.8 Members received professional advice on both proposals.  With regards to Lift 

rescues, ESFRS had the highest incidences in its family group, in part due to the 
number of high-rise buildings.  It had never been the professional view that the 
Service should stop attending lift rescues.  The main issue was those callouts that 
were to maintenance issue, in particular this was a concern with properties owned 
by BHCC, and the support of Councillors would be welcomed to ensure that 
maintenance of these lifts was improved.  With regard to the proposed amendment 
relating to bird rescues, it was not the intention of the Service to put any member 
of the public at risk by not attending these call-outs.  The Fire Authority was 
informed that the majority of these rescues were already attended by charities 
rather than ESFRS, especially the Wildlife Rescue Ambulance Service (WRAS) 
and RSPCA.   

  
6.9 Wider discussions continued including the voicing of a concern by some members 

that the public may have been distracted by some claims in the public domain that 
there was more significant funding available to the Fire Authority than was currently 
the case.  It was suggested that an additional recommendation be added stating 
that the IRMP could be revisited if there was an increase in Government funding.  
In consultation with the Monitoring Officer the following additional recommendation 
(Amendment 2) was proposed by Cllr Lambert and seconded by Cllr Osborne: 
 

vii) In the event that there is an increase in government funding to Fire 
Service, the authority agrees to review the IRMP to reflect the 
changed position. 

  
6.10 The Authority was given reassurance that every effort had been made to minimise 

the impact on staff.  There were no compulsory redundancies associated with this 
IRMP.  The staffing changes in the amended proposals equated to a very small 
number of posts and limited movement available to deliver enhancements.  
Members were reminded that the IRMP would be a “living document” and if external 
factors changed, then it would be revisited.   

  

Page 66



EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

6.11 The Fire Authority concluded is discussions with the Chairman reminding all those 
present that they had a statutory duty to agree an IRMP ( as set out in the National 
Framework) and that this should be achievable at this meeting and if not they there 
was a high risk that they Authority would run out of time.  The CFO confirmed that 
current IRMP would end in December 2020. 

  
6.12 Discussions amongst Members demonstrated a general support for the proposed 

amendments and then the IRMP as a whole based on those being agreed.  There 
was a general agreement that Authority Members should lobby government on 
funding matters and, as a result of comments during the consultation process, 
contact Local MPs and request that they too support the Authority and lobby on 
their behalf.   

  
6.13 Members agreed to take a recorded vote on the two proposed amendments and 

then the final recommendations in full.  The Fire Authority agreed to proposed 
amendments 1 and 2 and then the recommendations, as amended, were agreed 
in full. 

  
COUNCILLOR ROY GALLEY 
CHAIRMAN OF EAST SUSSEX FIRE AUTHORITY 
 
3 September 2020 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN  

REPORT OF URGENT DECISIONS 
 

 
 

1. Delegations to Officers – Adult Social Care  
 
1.1 The Chairman agreed that decisions taken by the Leader of the Council at a 
meeting on 12 November 2020 were urgent. The Leader and Lead Member RESOLVED 
to: 
 
(1) agree to delegate the functions set out in Appendix 1 to the report; and 
(2) agree that the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health and the Director of 
Adult Social Care be considered Chief Officers and Directors for the purpose of 
delegations to officers and be delegated authority accordingly. 
 
1.2 The reason for urgency in relation to these decisions was that the delegations 
needed to be in place for 16 November 2020.  
 
 
 
                12 November 2020         COUNCILLOR DAVID ELKIN   
                                                                                       (Chairman of the Council) 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2020
	5 Report of the Cabinet
	6 Report of the Place Scrutiny Committee
	7 Report of the Governance Committee
	8 Report of the Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health
	10 Report of the East Sussex Fire Authority
	11 Urgent Decisions

